Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)

Elkins MR, Jones A, van der Schans C



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2007, Issue 2

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	2
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	2
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	4
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	4
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	5
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	6
RESULTS	7
DISCUSSION	11
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	12
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	13
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	13
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	13
REFERENCES	13
TABLES	17
Characteristics of included studies	17
Characteristics of metuded studies	30
ADDITIONAL TABLES	31
	31
Table 01. Search Strategy CINAHL	
Table 02. Quality criteria met by included studies (Maher 2003)	31
Table 03. FEV1 after single treatment Pfleger 1992	32
Table 04. Days of intravenous antibiotic use per participant per year (Costantini 2001)	32
Table 05. Measures of technique acceptability (McIlwaine 1991)	32
Table 06. Percentage of radioaerosol retention (Falk 1993)	33
Table 07. Wet weight of sputum during and 50 minutes after Rx (Falk 1984)	33
Table 08. Wet weight of sputum during Rx (Pfleger 1992)	33
Table 09. Wet weight of sputum during and for 30 minutes after Rx (Hofmeyer 1986)	33
Table 10. FVC after single treatment (Pfleger 1992) . <	33
Table 11. FVC change after four treatments (Falk 1984)	34
Table 12. TLC and FRC during treatment (van der Schans 1991)	34
Table 13. Oxygenation change during Rx (Kofler 1998)	34
Table 14. Oxygenation change by 35 min after Rx (Falk 1984)	34
Table 15. Adherence at one year (McIlwaine 1997)	34
Table 16. Adherence at one year (McIlwaine 2001)	35
Table 17. FEV1 change over two years in participants under 19 years of age (Gaskin 1998)	35
ANALYSES	35
Comparison 01. PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration	35
Comparison 02. PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter)	35
INDEX TERMS	36
COVER SHEET	36
GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES	37
Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 01 Forced	37
expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)	
Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 02 Adverse	38
effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux	
Analysis 01.03. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 03 Adverse	38
effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux sufficient to cause withdrawal	55
Analysis 01.04. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 04 Forced	39
vital capacity (FVC)	57

Analysis 01.05. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 05 Forced	40
expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)	
Analysis 01.06. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 06 Total lung	40
capacity (TLC)	
Analysis 01.07. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 07	41
Radiological imaging: increased bronchial markings	
Analysis 01.08. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 08	41
Radiological imaging: change in Brasfield score	
Analysis 02.01. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 01 Forced expiratory volume in	42
1 second (FEV1)	
Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 02 Hospitalisations for	42
respiratory exacerbation (number per participant)	
Analysis 02.03. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 03 Participant preference: self-	43
withdrawal due to lack of perceived effectiveness	
Analysis 02.04. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)	43
Analysis 02.05. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 05 Forced expiratory flow 25 -	44
75 % (FEF 25-75)	
Analysis 02.06. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 06 Adherence: at least 85% of	44
prescribed treatments performed	

Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)

Elkins MR, Jones A, van der Schans C

This record should be cited as:

Elkins MR, Jones A, van der Schans C. Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD003147. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003147.pub3.

This version first published online: 19 April 2006 in Issue 2, 2006. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 15 December 2005

ABSTRACT

Background

Chest physiotherapy is widely prescribed to assist the clearance of airway secretions in people with cystic fibrosis (CF). Positive expiratory pressure (PEP) devices provide constant back pressure to the airways during expiration. This may improve clearance by building up gas behind mucus via collateral ventilation. Given the widespread use of PEP devices, there is a need to determine the evidence for their effect.

Objectives

To determine the effectiveness and acceptability of PEP devices compared to other forms of physiotherapy as a means of improving mucus clearance and other outcomes in people with CF.

Search strategy

We searched the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group Trials Register comprising of references identified from comprehensive electronic database searches and handsearches of relevant journals and abstract books of conference proceedings. The electronic database CINAHL was also searched from 1982 to 2001.

Most recent search of the Group's register: February 2006.

Selection criteria

Randomised controlled studies in which PEP was compared with any other form of physiotherapy in people with CF.

Data collection and analysis

Two authors independently applied the inclusion and exclusion criteria to publications and assessed the quality of the included studies.

Main results

Forty studies were identified and twenty-five studies involving 507 participants met the review inclusion criteria. Most included studies had low scores on a scale of study quality. Twenty of these studies involving 300 participants were cross-over in design. Data were not published in sufficient detail in most of these studies to perform meta-analysis.

Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV_1) was the most frequently measured outcome. Single interventions or series of treatments continued for up to three months demonstrated no significant difference in effect between PEP and other methods of airway clearance on FEV_1 . Long-term studies had equivocal or conflicting results regarding the effect on FEV_1 . Participant preference was reported in nine studies. In all studies with an intervention period of at least one month, measures of participant preference were in favour of PEP. The results for the remaining outcome measures were not examined or reported in sufficient detail to provide any high level evidence.

Authors' conclusions

There was no clear evidence that PEP was a more or less effective intervention overall than other forms of physiotherapy. There was limited evidence that PEP was preferred by participants compared to other techniques, but this finding is from studies of low quality.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Not enough strong evidence about the effects of positive expiratory pressure (PEP) devices for chest physiotherapy for people with cystic fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis (CF) causes frequent respiratory infection and blocks the airways with mucus secretions. Chest physiotherapy is frequently used to try to clear these secretions out of the lungs. Positive expiratory pressure (PEP) devices provide pressure behind the mucus to try to push it out of the lungs. The review of studies found only weak evidence about the effects of PEP. The evidence does not show that PEP is more effective than other methods of chest physiotherapy. There was some evidence that people with CF may prefer PEP to other chest physiotherapy methods, but more research is needed.

BACKGROUND

Cystic Fibrosis (CF) is a relatively common, inherited, life-limiting disorder. The genetic defect causes abnormal mucus secretion in the airways, potentially leading to airway obstruction and mucus plugging (Zach 1990). This predisposes the airways to infection and inflammation, which in turn promote further mucus secretion. Persistent infection and inflammation within the lungs are the major contributory factors to airway damage and the progressive loss of respiratory function (Cantin 1995; Konstan 1997). Treatment methods which improve mucus clearance are considered essential in optimising respiratory status and reducing the progression of lung disease. A variety of methods are used, some physical, e.g. chest physiotherapy, and some chemical, e.g. inhaled medications.

Chest physiotherapy is widely prescribed to assist the clearance of airway mucus and is usually commenced as soon as the diagnosis of CF is made. Traditionally, chest physiotherapy relied on postural drainage (gravity assisted drainage positions) combined with percussion and vibration (performed by an assistant such as a physiotherapist or relative), and forced expirations (huffing and coughing). Some protocols included deep breathing exercises. This form of chest physiotherapy is time-consuming and sometimes uncomfortable. It also requires assistance, which may have an adverse effect on adherence. Recently, several self-administered alternatives that are able to be used in upright sitting positions have been developed. Among these are a range of positive expiratory pressure (PEP) devices, which provide a constant back pressure to the airways during expiration. A theory is that PEP devices are able to improve clearance by increasing gas pressure behind mucus via collateral ventilation, thus making expiratory manoeuvres more effective (Andersen 1979; Groth 1985). It has also been hypothesised that PEP may stabilise airways by splinting them open during expiration, which may facilitate airway clearance (Oberwaldner 1986). Oberwaldner has documented a modification of the standard PEP technique known as high pressure PEP (Hi-PEP). Hi-PEP incorporates forced expiratory manoeuvres through the PEP device, which generates higher pressures and may stimulate coughing (Oberwaldner 1986).

A Cochrane systematic review comparing any form of chest physiotherapy with no chest physiotherapy found evidence to demonstrate the benefit of chest physiotherapy for increasing mucus transport, but did not find evidence for any long-term outcomes (van der Schans 2004). Several narrative reviews have compared different types of chest physiotherapy, including PEP, with conflicting conclusions (McIlwaine 1996; Prasad 1993; Prasad 2000; Williams 1994; Zach 1987). This review will examine the effect and acceptability of PEP devices compared to other techniques used for secretion clearance.

The most effective technique for secretion clearance during an infective exacerbation of CF may differ from that which is most effective for maintenance therapy. PEP is also used in combination with various other interventions (e.g. pharmacological therapies, other physical therapy techniques, or the modification to the technique known as high pressure PEP). It is therefore important to establish the effect of PEP in each stage of CF lung disease and with and without co-interventions.

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this review is to determine the effect of PEP on clearance of airway secretion compared to other forms of chest physiotherapy in people with CF.

The following hypotheses are tested:

(1) PEP improves outcomes for people with CF more than other forms of chest physiotherapy;

(2) PEP is more acceptable to people with CF than other forms of chest physiotherapy.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

Randomised controlled studies.

Types of participants

People with CF, of any age, diagnosed on the basis of clinical criteria and sweat testing or genotype analysis, with any degree of disease severity.

Types of intervention

In the existing literature, variation occurs in the application of specific techniques. Separate analysis of variations within each technique would render this review unmanageable. For the purpose of this review, it is necessary to group these variations within broad definitions of the established treatment modalities.

One of the interventions used in the studies will be required to meet one of the following descriptions:

Positive expiratory pressure (PEP) mask, mouthpiece or bottle therapy as described by the authors is to be one of the interventions, with or without additional techniques. PEP was originally defined as breathing with a positive expiratory pressure of 10 - 20cm H_2O (Falk 1984), but for the purposes of this review, this will be expanded to include pressures from 5 - 25 cm H_2O .

High pressure PEP (Hi-PEP) mask therapy as described by the authors is to be one of the interventions, with or without additional techniques. Hi-PEP is a modification of the above technique which includes a full forced expiration against a fixed mechanical resistance which usually generates pressures ranging from 40 - 100cm H_2O (Oberwaldner 1986).

At least one comparator intervention used in the studies will be required to meet one of the following descriptions:

(1) Postural drainage with percussion and vibration (PDPV). In other reviews this has been described as conventional chest physiotherapy (CCPT).

(2) Active cycle of breathing techniques (ACBT). This comprises relaxation or breathing control, forced expiration technique (FET), thoracic expansion exercises and may include postural drainage or percussion.

(3) Autogenic drainage (AD). This breathing technique uses high expiratory flow rates at varying lung volumes to enhance mucous clearance while avoiding airway closure.

(4) Oral oscillatory devices include flutter, cornet, acapella and intrapulmonary percussive ventilation. The Flutter, cornet and acapella devices produce an oral oscillatory PEP effect within the airways. Intrapulmonary percussive ventilation provides continuous oscillation of the air pressure in the airways via the mouth.

(5) Thoracic oscillating devices such as Thairapy Vest and the Hiyak Oscillator provide external chest wall oscillation.

(6) Exercise prescribed for the purpose of airway clearance either independently or as an adjunct to other techniques.

Types of outcome measures

Primary Outcomes

(1) Forced expiratory volume at one second (FEV₁) Change in FEV_1 between baseline and post-intervention. Litre and percent (%) predicted values are both stated wherever possible.

(2) Number of respiratory exacerbations per year Respiratory exacerbations must have been defined either by symptoms or by changes in treatment after medical assessment.

(3) Number of days of intravenous antibiotics per year Intravenous antibiotics must have been prescribed in response to a respiratory exacerbation.

(4) Well-being

Quality of life or well-being, or ability to participate in activities of daily living.

(5) Adverse effects

Deaths or other adverse changes in condition from baseline (pretreatment), such as pneumothorax, bronchospasm or haemoptysis.

(6) Survival

(7) Exercise tolerance

Subjective exercise tolerance, or objective measures such as sixminute walk test.

(8) Participant preference

Participant preference may be determined either as the nominated technique of choice by the participant at the conclusion of the study, or by a comparison of technique acceptability (e.g. visual analogue scale).

Secondary Outcomes

(1) Direct measures of mucus clearance

Mucus transport rate or mucociliary clearance rate as assessed by radioactive tracer.

(2) Expectorated secretions, dry or wet weight, or volume

An increase in the amount of expectorated secretions as a shortterm (less than seven days) effect of the intervention is considered as beneficial. In long-term studies this outcome variable will not be included.

(3) Other pulmonary parameters

Forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory flow 25-75% (FEF₂₅₋₇₅), total lung capacity (TLC), residual volume (RV) and functional residual capacity (FRC) post-intervention change from baseline.

(4) Blood oxygen levels Measured by arterial blood gas, pulse oximetry or transcutaneous

Measured by arterial blood gas, pulse oximetry or transcutaneous oximetry.

(5) Ventilation scanning Radiological or nuclear medicine imaging.

(6) Nutritional status

Difference in growth (cm/year), weight (kg/year), or body composition (body mass index (BMI)).

(7) Cost of intervention (equipment and duration)

(8) Adherence to treatment

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group methods used in reviews.

Relevant studies were identified from the Group's Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register using the terms: physiotherapy AND PEP.

The Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register is compiled from electronic searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (updated each new issue of *The Cochrane Library*), quarterly searches of MEDLINE, a search of EMBASE to 1995 and the prospective handsearching of two journals - *Pediatric Pulmonology* and the *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*. Unpublished work is identified by searching the abstract books of three major cystic fibrosis conferences: the International Cystic Fibrosis Conference; the European Cystic Fibrosis Conference and the North American Cystic Fibrosis Conference. For full details of all searching activities for the register, please see the relevant sections of the Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group Module.

We performed an additional search of the electronic database CINAHL from 1982 to 2001. For the full search strategy, please see the appropriate additional table (Table 01).

The review authors contacted manufacturers of PEP devices regarding any additional studies. The authors contacted other centres where studies on PEP were being undertaken.

Date of the most recent search of the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register: February 2006.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

Two authors (ME, AJ) independently reviewed all citations and abstracts identified by the search to determine which papers assessed should be included. The authors resolved disagreements by consensus.

Each of the two authors independently assessed the methodological quality of selected studies. The authors evaluated study quality using the 11item PEDro scale (Maher 2003), which is based on the Delphi List (Verhagen 1998). Quality items are: specification of source of participants and eligibility criteria; random allocation to groups; concealed allocation; groups similar at baseline; blinding of participants; blinding of therapists; blinding of assessors; outcome measurements obtained from more than 85% of participants; presence of an intention-to-treat analysis; reporting of results of between-group statistical comparisons; reporting of point measures and measures of variability. The review authors used both published data and additional data obtained from study authors in determining whether criteria were met. The review authors resolved any disagreements by consensus. There was a high level of agreement between them, with only three studies (12%) requiring consensus discussions (Darbee 2004; McIlwaine 2001; Pfleger 1992).

Elbourne discusses methods for meta-analysing cross-over studies (Elbourne 2002). These methods rely on the data that are reported within the primary paper. The method that has been adopted within this review uses the data from the first period only, ignoring any data from the second period that was available. Each author extracted data for each of the outcome measures listed above. Where studies are published in insufficient detail, the review authors contacted the study authors with a request to provide the required data. The Cochrane Collaboration software - Review Manager 4.2 has been used to compile and analyse the data (Review Manager 2003).

For all studies included, the following details are given: criteria for diagnosis of CF, methods of participant selection, and baseline characteristics of the active and placebo groups including age, sex, genotype and lung function.

For continuous outcomes, the review authors recorded either the mean change from baseline for each group or mean post-treatment or intervention values and the standard deviation for each group. In the case of binary outcomes, the authors colleced data on the number of participants with each outcome event by allocated treated group irrespective of compliance and whether or not the participant was later thought to be ineligible or otherwise excluded for treatment or follow up, in order to allow an intention-to-treat analysis.

For more information on the statistical methods used in this review, see Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group Editorial Information.

The authors analysed studies in which the intervention consists of a single treatment separately from those studies in which a course of treatments is used. Within the latter group, the authors analysed studies of up to seven days treatment separately from studies of longer duration. The authors grouped outcome data from longerterm studies (more than seven days) into those measured at one, three, six, twelve months, and annually thereafter. If outcome data are recorded at other time periods, then the authors consider examining these as well.

If the authors had been able to inlcude adequate numbers of studies, they would have looked for heterogeneity between studies. To investigate this, they planned to perform subgroup analyses based on the following factors: level of PEP (<10 cm H₂ O, 10 to 20 cm H₂O, >20 cm H₂O), use of Hi-PEP, disease state (exacerbation versus stable), use of co-interventions (positioning, other airway clearance techniques), age (paediatric, adolescent, adult), gender,

and disease severity (FEV1% pred >90%, 70% to 90%, 40% to 69%, <40%).

DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

Sixty-six citations were retrieved by the search. These represented 40 studies. No extra studies were identified with the CINAHL search or through contacting manufacturers of PEP devices.

Twenty-five studies involving 507 participants met the inclusion criteria. Sixteen were published as full articles (Braggion 1995; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Hofmeyr 1986; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998). Nine were published in abstract form only (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Falk 1993; Gaskin 1998; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; Placidi 2001).

Of the other 15 studies, nine studies were excluded after assessment. Two studies were excluded because no data were reported and the study authors confirmed that no data would become available (Castle 1994; Gotz 1995); one because the outcomes measured were not outcomes of interest for this review (Dosman 2003); one because it was not a randomised study (Orlik 2000); one because the intervention, to which PEP was compared, was not a physical airway clearance therapy (Laube 2000); one because neither of the interventions being compared were PEP (Oermann 2001); two because the use of PEP versus the other physical airway clearance therapy was not the factor which had been randomised (Fitzgerald 2001; Znotina 2000); and one because it was performed on participants with chronic bronchitis (van Hengstum 1987).

The remaining six studies are awaiting assessment. Of these six studies, two have not yet been obtained in their full published version with English translation (Sanchez Riera 1999; Tonnesen 1982). In the other four studies, all of which have been published in abstract form only, the study design or outcome data have been reported in insufficient detail to determine whether the inclusion criteria have been met (Falk 1988; Kofler 1994; Lagerkvist 1997; Wong 2000). These authors have been contacted where possible and we await further data which they may make available.

Among the twenty-five included studies, 507 participants were involved, with sample sizes in individual studies ranging from 5 to 66 participants. Eight were single treatment studies (Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Falk 1993; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; Mortensen 1991; Pfleger 1992; van der Schans 1991). In five studies the duration of each treatment arm was less than seven days (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Braggion 1995; Hofmeyr 1986; Placidi 2001). In the remaining 12 studies, the duration of each treatment arm ranged from two weeks to two years (Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Gaskin 1998; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998).

Three studies were conducted in participants experiencing a respiratory exacerbation (Braggion 1995; Hofmeyr 1986; Placidi 2001). All used a cross-over design with a duration of one or two days in each arm. Hence they provide limited evidence for the effect of PEP for treatment of an exacerbation.

In one of the included studies, the PEP intervention met the definition of Hi-PEP, because the intervention included a full forced expiration against a fixed mechanical resistance (Pfleger 1992).

One study was conducted exclusively with infants (Costantini 2001). Two studies were conducted exclusively with adolescents (McIlwaine 2001; Tyrrell 1986). Two studies were conducted exclusively with adults (Darbee 1990; Newbold 2005). Ten studies combined paediatric and older participants and ten studies combined adolescent and adult participants. Only one of these provided data for any age subgroup independently (Gaskin 1998).

Eighteen of the included studies involving 403 participants reported gender of the participants (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Braggion 1995; Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; Tyrrell 1986; van Winden 1998). One had an even gender ratio (Braggion 1995). Most had more male than female participants, resulting in an overall male: female ratio of 3:2.

Six studies did not report any measure of disease severity of the included participants. Fourteen studies reported the FEV₁% predicted values of participants at baseline. In three of these studies, FEV₁ values were only in the moderate to severe range (<70% predicted) (Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Placidi 2001). The remaining studies included participants with a wide range of lung function impairment, most commonly from severe to normal (<40% to >90% predicted). Those studies reporting Shwachman scores as a measure of disease severity also included participants with a wide range of scores, except one in which the range included only mild and moderate severity (70+ % predicted) (Padman 1999).

Twenty of the included studies involving 300 participants were cross-over studies. Data from the end of the first randomisation arm were obtained for three of these studies (Darbee 1990; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987), but could not be obtained for the remaining 17 studies (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Braggion 1995; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Falk 1993; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1991; Mortensen 1991; Padman 1999; Pfleger 1992; Placidi 2001; Steen 1991; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

Additional data were obtained from the authors of nine of the studies (Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Gaskin 1998; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987).

METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

The eleven criteria in the PEDro score of methodological quality and the studies which met each of them are detailed below (Maher 2003).

Criterion 1

The authors described both a list of criteria used to determine who was eligible to participate in the study and the source of participants. This criterion was met by 10 studies (Braggion 1995; Costantini 2001; Falk 1984; Gaskin 1998; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; van Asperen 1987).

Criterion 2

The participants were randomly allocated to groups (in a crossover study, to treatment order). This criterion was met by all studies (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Braggion 1995; Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Falk 1993; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Pfleger 1992; Placidi 2001; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

Criterion 3

Allocation was concealed (ie, that the person who determined if a participant was eligible for inclusion in the study was unaware, when this decision was made, of which group the participant would be allocated to). This criterion was met by one study (Newbold 2005).

Criterion 4

The groups were similar at baseline regarding the most important prognostic indicators (i.e. based on at least one measure of the severity of CF and one outcome measure at baseline, the groups' outcomes would not be expected to differ by a clinically significant amount). This criterion was met by 11 studies (Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998).

Criterion 5

The participants did not know which group they had been allocated to. This criterion was not met by any of the studies.

Criterion 6

The person applying the therapy did not know which group the participants had been allocated to. This criterion was not met by any of the studies.

Criterion 7

The person assessing at least one outcome measure did not know which group the participants had been allocated to. This criterion was met by four of the studies (Falk 1984; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Pfleger 1992). For self-reported outcomes (eg, visual analogue scale, pain diary), the assessor is considered to be blind if the participant was blind.

Criterion 8

The measures of at least one key outcome at one time point were obtained from more than 85% of the participants initially allocated to groups. This criterion was met by 14 studies (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Darbee 1990; Falk 1984; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1997; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; van Winden 1998).

Criterion 9

All participants, for whom outcome measures were available, received the treatment or control condition as allocated or, where this was not the case, data for at least one key outcome was analysed by "intention to treat". This criterion was met by two studies (Falk 1984; Gaskin 1998). This criterion is satisfied, even if there is no mention of analysis by intention to treat, if the report explicitly states that all participants received treatment or control conditions as allocated.

Criterion 10

The results of between-group statistical comparisons are reported for at least one key outcome. This criterion was met by 19 studies (Balestri 2004; Braggion 1995; Falk 1984; Falk 1993; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

Criterion 11

Either

(a) point measures and measures of variability for at least one continuous outcome or

(b) the number of participants in each category for at least one categorical outcome are provided

or both (a) and (b). This criterion was met by 22 studies (Balestri 2004; Braggion 1995; Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Falk 1984; Falk 1993; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Lannefors 1992; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; Placidi 2001; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

As a general indication of the relative methodological quality of the studies, the total number criteria met by each study are given in the additional tables (Table 02). Please note that because Criterion 1 relates to external validity (or "generalisability" or "applicability" of the results), it is not included in this summary score of internal validity (Maher 2003). Also note that the criteria could vary in their impact on potential bias in the results and thus the summary scores are not intended to be suitable for analysis as continuous data.

RESULTS

This review makes comparisons of PEP versus conventional physiotherapy (PDPV) for CF. These comparisons are also made by the Cochrane review 'Conventional chest physiotherapy compared to other airway clearance techniques for cystic fibrosis' (Main 2005). The statistical methods used in the two reviews differ. Main and colleagues used the generic inverse variance method. The current review has not used the generic inverse variance method, but it is intended that a statistician will be recruited to participate in the next update, thus allowing the generic inverse variance method to be used. Therefore, the data that could be included in the two reviews currently differ. This discrepancy will be resolved with the next version of this review.

Primary outcomes

(1) FEV_1

Seventeen studies involving 398 participants measured FEV₁ (Braggion 1995; Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Falk 1993; Gaskin 1998; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

(a) Single treatment

Seven studies involving 95 participants measured FEV₁ after a single treatment (Darbee 2004; Falk 1993; Kofler 1998; Pfleger 1992; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998). There was no significant difference in FEV₁ after PEP compared to the forced expiratory technique (FET) (Falk 1993), PDP (van Asperen 1987), non-invasive bilevel ventilatory support (nBVS) (Kofler 1998), Flutter (van Winden 1998), 5 cm H₂O PEP (van der Schans 1991), or >20 cm H₂O PEP (Darbee 2004). One study found that FEV₁ was significantly lower after a treatment of AD followed by Hi-PEP, compared to AD alone (Pfleger 1992). This is presented in an additional table (Table 03).

(b) Short-term (up to seven days)

Two studies involving 34 participants measured FEV₁ after four treatments (Braggion 1995; Hofmeyr 1986). Four treatments of PEP in sitting, PEP in postural drainage positions, or breathing exercises in postural drainage positions on a single day induced no significant differences in FEV₁ (Hofmeyr 1986). Four treatments of PEP, postural drainage with undefined chest physiotherapy techniques, or Flutter over two days induced no significant differences in FEV₁ (Braggion 1995).

(c) Long-term studies (more than seven days)

Ten studies involving 282 participants measured FEV_1 after a series of treatments over more than seven days (Darbee 1990; Gaskin 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Steen 1991; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998). Please note that the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only six of the ten studies. The remaining four studies were cross-over studies from which

data from the end of the first randomisation arm could not be obtained. No significant differences in FEV₁ were demonstrated after two weeks of treatment with either PEP or Flutter (van Winden 1998); after a month of PEP, PD, or Flutter (Padman 1999); after one month of PEP or PDP (for this study, weighted mean difference (WMD) 0.60 % predicted (95% CI -6.33 to 7.53)) (van Asperen 1987); after one month of PEP, PEP followed by PDPV, PDPV, or PEP + FET (Steen 1991); after two months of PEP, AD, or PDP (McIlwaine 1991); or after three months of PEP or PDPV (WMD -0.50% predicted (95% CI -3.68 to 2.68) (Darbee 1990).

Four studies with 188 participants lasted at least one year. In a oneyear study in children and adolescents, FEV₁ declined by a mean of 1.24% predicted in the PEP group, while in the Flutter group it deteriorated by 10.95%, WMD 9.71 (95% CI -2.12 to 21.54) (McIlwaine 2001). However, in a 13-month study, annual decline in FEV₁ was 4.2% predicted in the PEP group and 2% predicted in the Flutter group, WMD -2.20 (95% CI -7.07 to 2.67) (Newbold 2005). FEV₁ improved by a mean of 5.98% predicted for the PEP group, while in the PDPV group it deteriorated by 2.28% predicted in a one-year study, WMD 8.26 (95% CI 0.76 to 15.76) (McIlwaine 1997). In a two-year study, however, no significant difference in the rates of decline in FEV1 were reported between the PEP group and the PDPV group, with mean annual declines of 2.94% predicted and 2.29% predicted, respectively, WMD -0.65 (95% CI -3.25 to 1.95) (Gaskin 1998).

(2) Number of respiratory exacerbations per year

Four cross-over studies involving 71 participants reported participants being withdrawn due to exacerbations, although these are not well-defined (Padman 1999; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; van Asperen 1987). It is also unclear which treatments the participants were randomised to at the time of departure from any of these studies.

Two parallel studies involving 82 participants reported the number of respiratory exacerbations severe enough to require hospitalisation (McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005). In a one-year study with 20 participants per group, respiratory exacerbations severe enough to require hospitalisation occurred five times in the PEP group and 18 times in the Flutter group. A Wilcoxon rank sum test indicated this difference was statistically significant (P = 0.03) but the number of hospitalisations per individual is not reported so this data does not appear in Statistical Analysis (McIlwaine 2001). Similarly, a 13-month study with 21 participants per group found respiratory exacerbations severe enough to require hospitalisation occurred six times in the PEP group and 14 times in the Flutter group (Newbold 2005). This represented a mean of 0.3 hospitalisations per participant in the PEP group and 0.7 hospitalisations per participant in the Flutter group, WMD -0.40 (95% CI -0.92 to 0.12). This is the only study entered in Statistical Analysis for this section.

(3) Number of days of intravenous antibiotics per year

One study with 26 participants and lasting one year measured intravenous antibiotic use, although it is unclear whether these were prescribed in response to a respiratory exacerbation (Costantini 2001). More days on intravenous antibiotics were reported with PEP (6.2 days per participant per year) than PDPV (1.8 days per participant per year), although no measures of variability could be obtained to determine whether this was statistically significant (Costantini 2001). This is presented in an additional table (Table 04).

(4) Well-being

One study reported well-being as an outcome measure (Gaskin 1998). In this two-year, parallel study of PEP versus PDPV, neither group demonstrated a significant change in quality of well-being (QWB) scores, which had been similar at baseline (Gaskin 1998).

(5) Adverse effects

Two studies with 66 participants reported adverse events as an outcome measure (Costantini 2001; McIlwaine 1997). In a year-long study of PEP versus conventional PDP in children and adolescents, no adverse events were reported by either group (McIlwaine 1997). In a one-year study of infants, side effects were described as rare. Although gastro-oesophageal reflux was reported more commonly in the PEP group than the PDPV group, RR 1.07 (95% CI 0.37 to 3.11), those in the PEP group described their reflux as mild. Reflux severe enough to cause withdrawal from the study was also examined, with all three cases occurring in the PDPV group, RR 0.12 (95% CI 0.01 to 2.18) (Costantini 2001). This is the only study entered in Statistical Analysis for this section.

(6) Survival

No studies reported survival rates per se. One study reported one death of a severely affected 18-year old girl, but it is not stated which treatment she was receiving (Steen 1991).

(7) Exercise tolerance

One study conducted exercise testing using cycle ergometry, but reported no data for this outcome measure (Gaskin 1998).

(8) Participant preference

Nine studies with 222 participants reported on technique acceptability or participant preference (Braggion 1995; Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; Falk 1984; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Steen 1991).

(a) Single treatment

Two studies involving 34 participants measured participant preference after a single treatment (Falk 1984; Kofler 1998). When compared to nBVS, 60% of participants preferred nBVS, 25% preferred PEP, and 15% had no preference (Kofler 1998). PEP in sitting was the preferred treatment for 11 of 14 participants, when compared to PEP in PD positions, PDPV, or pursed lip breathing. It was reported that "even though all participants had received postural drainage and percussion as an integral part of treatment, they did not hesitate to accept [PEP in sitting], which was easier, less time-consuming and could be used when needed" (Falk 1984).

(b) Short-term (up to seven days)

One study involving 16 participants measured participant preference after a short-term treatment course. A two-day course of four treatments with PEP was compared with the same regimen of PD with undefined chest physiotherapy techniques, or flutter. Threepoint rating scales (criteria unspecified) of effectiveness and tolerance were recorded after each arm, with no significant differences between interventions (Braggion 1995).

(c) Long-term (more than seven days)

Six studies involving 172 participants measured participant preference after a treatment course of greater than seven days duration (Costantini 2001; Darbee 1990; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Steen 1991). Please note the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, including only one of the six studies. Data from the remaining five studies could not be obtained in sufficient detail for inclusion in Statistical Analysis. The cross-over study comparing two months of PEP, conventional PDP, and AD recorded five subjective measures which may influence participant preference: treatment duration; treatment comfort; flexibility of treatment times; control in performing own treatment; and how interruptive treatment was to daily living. PEP had a significantly shorter reported treatment time than PDP or AD. PEP was rated significantly better than PDP and not significantly different to AD on each of the other four measures (McIlwaine 1991). Standard deviations were not available for these outcomes. Mean data are presented in an additional table (Table 05). PEP was the treatment of choice in the other two long-term, cross-over studies (Darbee 1990; Steen 1991). PEP in combination with FET was chosen by 23 of 24 participants as their long-term airway clearance physiotherapy, in preference to PEP alone, PDP & FET, or five minutes of PEP followed by PDP and FET (Steen 1991). When compared to PDPV, "patients... preferred PEP mask for convenience, independence and ease of use, as determined by a standardized written questionnaire" (not described) (Darbee 1990).

Participant preference also favoured PEP in the three one-year parallel studies (Costantini 2001; MCIlwaine 1997; MCIlwaine 2001). The study of PEP versus flutter reported "discontinuation due to lack of perceived effectiveness in clearing their secretions". Of 40 participants, five discontinued for this reason, all from the flutter group, RR 0.09 (95% CI 0.01 to 1.54) (McIlwaine 2001). In the study of PEP versus PDPV, participant preference was only recorded in the PEP group, as all participants were PEP naive prior to starting the study. All 18 participants in the PEP group nominated the PEP intervention as their preferred airway clearance modality (McIlwaine 1997). Although it was not stated how participant preference was determined, the conclusion from the study of PEP versus PDPV in infants was that the parents and infants preferred PEP (Costantini 2001).

Secondary Outcomes

(1) Direct measures of mucus clearance

Five studies with 61 participants measured radiolabelled aerosol clearance after a single treatment of PEP (Darbee 1990; Falk 1984; Lannefors 1992; Mortensen 1991; van der Schans 1991). Please note, all were cross-over studies from which data from the end of the first randomisation arm could not be obtained so no data have been entered in Statistical Analysis. Radioisotope retention two hours after a 20-minute treatment of PEP and FET was significantly less than for FET alone (Falk 1993), this is presented in an additional table (Table 06). No significant difference in clearance was identified between PEP and PDPV (Darbee 1990) or voluntary cough (van der Schans 1991). No significant difference in clearance was identified between PEP plus FET and PD plus FET (Lannefors 1992; Mortensen 1991) or exercise plus FET (Lannefors 1992).

(2) Expectorated secretions, dry or wet weight, or volume

Twelve cross-over studies with 166 participants reported measures of expectorated sputum (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Braggion 1995; Falk 1984; Hofmeyr 1986; McIlwaine 1991; Mortensen 1991; Pfleger 1992; Placidi 2001; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987).

(a) Single treatment

Four studies with 34 participants measured expectorated secretions after a single treatment (Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Mortensen 1991; Pfleger 1992). One study found wet weight of sputum during and for 50 minutes after PEP (whether in sitting or PD positions) was greater than that induced by PDPV or pursed lip breathing (Falk 1984), this is presented in an additional table (Table 07). However, wet weight of sputum expectorated during and for 120 minutes after treatment demonstrated no significant difference between PEP and PD (Mortensen 1991). Dry weight of sputum was not significantly different after single treatments of PEP and >20 cm H_2O PEP (Darbee 2004). One study demonstrated Hi-PEP produced significantly more sputum than either AD or AD then Hi-PEP (Pfleger 1992). This is presented in an additional table (Table 08).

(b) Short-term (up to seven days)

No significant difference in expectorated secretions was identified between PEP and PDP, whether measured by sputum wet weight (Battistini 2001; Tyrrell 1986) or volume (van Asperen 1987). No significant difference in wet or dry weight of sputum was identified between PEP and PDPV or HFCC (Braggion 1995). No significant difference in wet or dry weight of sputum was identified between PEP and CPAP and nBVS and directed huffing or coughing (Placidi 2001). No significant difference in sputum weight was identified between PEP and cycling on an exercise bike (Balestri 2004). When wet weight of sputum was measured during and for 30 minutes after treatment, breathing exercises in postural drainage positions induced significantly greater sputum expectoration than PEP in postural drainage positions. The latter in turn produced significantly more expectorate than PEP in sitting (Hofmeyr 1986). This is presented in an additional table (Table 09).

(c) Long-term (more than seven days)

As outlined in the 'Methods' section, this review does not examine this outcome where it is measured after more than 7 days of treatment.

(3) Other pulmonary function tests

(a) FVC

Fifteen studies with 370 participants measured FVC (Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Gaskin 1998; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Pfleger 1992; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998).

(i) Single treatment

Seven studies involving 102 participants measured FVC after a single treatment (Darbee 2004; Kofler 1998; Pfleger 1992; Tyrrell 1986; van der Schans 1991; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998). Please note, the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only one of the six studies. The remaining five studies were cross-over studies from which data from the first randomisation arm could not be obtained. No significant difference in FVC was demonstrated with a single treatment of PEP versus 5 cm H₂O PEP (van der Schans 1991). No significant difference in FVC was demonstrated with a single treatment of PEP versus >20 cm H₂O PEP (Darbee 2004). After a single treatment with PEP or PDP, no significant difference in FVC was demonstrated, WMD 1.90 (95% CI -4.96 to 8.76) (Tyrrell 1986). A second study comparing a single treatment with PEP or PDP also showed no significant difference, WMD 2.20 (95% CI -11.04 to 15.44) (van Asperen 1987). No significant difference in FVC was demonstrated after one treatment with either PEP or flutter (van Winden 1998). No significant difference in FVC was noted after one treatment with PEP or nBVS (Kofler 1998). One study found that FVC was significantly lower after a treatment of AD followed by Hi-PEP, compared to AD alone (Pfleger 1992). This is presented in an additional table (Table 10).

(ii) Short-term (up to seven days)

After two days of twice-daily treatment, FVC significantly increased in a group performing PEP in sitting and significantly decreased in a group performing PDPV (Falk 1984). This is presented in an additional table (Table 11).

(iii) Long-term (more than seven days)

Ten studies involving 308 participants measured FVC after a series of treatments over more than seven days (Darbee 1990; Gaskin 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Steen 1991; Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998). Please note, the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only six of the nine studies. The remaining three studies were cross-over studies from which

data from the end of the first randomisation arm could not be obtained. After one month of twice-daily treatments with PEP or PDP, no significant difference in FVC was found in adolescents (Tyrrell 1986), or in children and adolescents (van Asperen 1987). Meta-analysis of these two studies indicated a significant difference in favour of PDP, WMD -4.18 (95% CI -12.92 to 4.56) (Tyrrell 1986; van Asperen 1987). Data from a third relevant study were not able to be included in the meta-analysis (Steen 1991). In this study, no significant differences in FVC were demonstrated after one month of PEP, PEP followed by PDPV, PDPV, and PEP + FET (Steen 1991). No significant difference in FVC was demonstrated after three months of PEP or PDPV, WMD 2.09 (95% CI -5.46 to 9.64) (Darbee 1990). A cross-over study comparing two months of PEP, PDP or AD also showed no significant differences in FVC (McIlwaine 1991).

At the end of a one-year study, mean FVC for the PEP group increased by 6.57% predicted, and mean FVC for the PDPV group decreased by approximately 2.17% predicted. This was a significant difference, WMD 8.74 (95% CI 1.44 to 16.04) (McIlwaine 1997). In a two-year study, no significant difference in the rates of decline in FVC were reported between the PEP group and the PDPV group, with mean annual declines of 2.54% predicted and 0.97% predicted, respectively, WMD -1.57 (95% CI -4.33 to 1.19) (Gaskin 1998).

No significant difference in FVC was demonstrated after two weeks of treatment with PEP or Flutter (van Winden 1998). Over one year, a decrease in mean FVC was reported with Flutter of 8.62% predicted while in the PEP group mean FVC increased 0.06% predicted, WMD 8.68 (95% CI -0.54 to 17.90) (McIlwaine 2001). However, in a 13-month study, annual decline in FVC was 4.7% predicted in the PEP group and 3% predicted in the Flutter group, WMD -1.70 (95% CI -6.27 to 2.87) (Newbold 2005).

(b) FEF 25-75

Eleven studies with 263 participants reported FEF₂₅₋₇₅ results (Darbee 1990; Darbee 2004; Kofler 1998; McIlwaine 1991; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Newbold 2005; Padman 1999; Steen 1991; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998).

(i) Single treatment

No significant difference in FEF_{25–75} was noted after one treatment with PEP or nBVS (Kofler 1998); after one treatment with PEP or flutter (van Winden 1998); or after one treatment with PEP or >20 cm H₂O PEP (Darbee 2004).

(ii) Short-term (up to seven days) No studies.

(iii) Long-term (more than seven days)

Eight studies involving 196 participants measured FEF_{25–75} after a series of treatments over more than seven days (Darbee 1990; McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001; Mortensen 1991; Padman 1999; Steen 1991; van Asperen 1987; van Winden 1998). Please note,

the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only four of the eight studies. The remaining four studies were cross-over studies from which data from the first randomisation arm could not be obtained. No significant differences in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ were demonstrated after two weeks of treatment with either PEP or flutter (van Winden 1998). After a month of each of three therapies: PEP, PD, and flutter, no significant differences in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ were identified (Padman 1999). Similarly, no significant differences in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ were demonstrated after one month of PEP, PEP followed by PDPV, PDPV, and PEP + FET (Steen 1991); or after one month of PEP or PDP, WMD -6.20 (95% CI -14.41 to 2.01) (van Asperen 1987). A study comparing two months of PEP, PDP or AD also showed no significant differences in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (McIlwaine 1991). No significant difference in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ was demonstrated after three months of PEP or PDPV, WMD -3.08 (95% CI -7.87 to 1.71) (Darbee 1990).

At the end of a one year study, mean FEF₂₅₋₇₅ for the PEP group increased by 3.32% predicted. Mean FEF₂₅₋₇₅ for the PDPV group decreased by approximately 0.24% predicted. This equates to a WMD for this study of 3.56 (95% CI -6.18 to 13.30) (McIIwaine 1997). In a one-year study in children and adolescents, FEF₂₅₋₇₅ declined by a mean of 3.58% predicted in the PEP group, while in the Flutter group it deteriorated by 8.87% predicted, WMD 5.29 (95% CI -7.84 to 18.42) (McIlwaine 2001). However, in a 13-month study, annual decline in FEF₂₅₋₇₅ was 3.1% predicted in the PEP group and 2% predicted in the Flutter group, WMD -1.10 (95% CI -6.50 to 4.30) (Newbold 2005).

(c) TLC

Three studies involving 50 participants measured total lung capacity (TLC) (Darbee 1990; van der Schans 1991; van Winden 1998). Please note, the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only one of the three studies. The remaining two studies were cross-over studies from which data from the first randomisation arm could not be obtained. Improvement in TLC was significantly greater with 15 cm H₂O PEP than with 5 cm H₂O PEP (van der Schans 1991), this is presented in an additional table (Table 12). No statistically significant difference in TLC was demonstrated after three months of PEP or PDPV, WMD -3.38 (95% CI -13.67 to 6.91) (Darbee 1990). No significant changes in TLC occurred both after one treatment and after two weeks of treatment with PEP and flutter (van Winden 1998).

(d) RV

Residual Volume (RV) did not change significantly with PEP or with 5 cm H_2O PEP (van der Schans 1991). The change in RV from baseline was not significantly different after a single treatment of PEP or >20 cm H_2O PEP (Darbee 2004).

(e) FRC

Improvement in functional residual capacity (FRC) was significantly greater with PEP than with 5 cm H_2O PEP (van der Schans 1991) (Table 12).

(4) Blood oxygen levels

Eight studies with 119 participants measured blood oxygen levels (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Costantini 2001; Darbee 2004; Falk 1984; Hofmeyr 1986; Kofler 1998; Padman 1999).

(a) Single treatment

The improvement in SpO₂ during a single nBVS treatment was statistically significantly greater than with one treatment with PEP (Kofler 1998), this is presented in an additional table (Table 13). The change in SpO₂ was not significantly different after a single treatment of PEP versus >20 cm H₂O PEP (Darbee 2004).

(b) Short-term (up to seven days)

There were no significant mid- or post-treatment differences between four treatments of breathing exercises in postural drainage positions, PEP in postural drainage positions, and PEP in sitting in a single day (Hofmeyr 1986). No significant difference in the lowest oxygen saturation recorded during treatment was identified between PEP and cycling on an exercise bike (Balestri 2004) or between PEP and PDPV (Battistini 2001). In a study comparing four treatments once each over two days, the mean gain in SpO₂ 35 minutes after treatment was significantly higher for PEP in sitting than for PEP in postural drainage (PD) positions, for pursed lip breathing, or for PDPV. Please note, the treatment durations were unequal in this study (Falk 1984). This is presented in an additional table (Table 14).

(c) Long-term (more than seven days)

Two studies involving 41 participants measured SpO₂ after a series of treatments over more than seven days (Costantini 2001; Padman 1999). Please note, the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing one of the two studies. A tendency toward greater SpO₂was reported with a month of PEP compared to either PD or flutter, but no data were provided to determine whether this was statistically significant (Padman 1999). In a one-year study of infants, oxygen saturation values in the PEP group are described as "higher than the PDPV group in every evaluation (98.1% versus 96.7%, P = 0.049)". Participants were evaluated at 0, 6 and 12 months in this study, so it is unclear to which evaluation the data refer. The data have not been entered in Statistical Analysis as no measures of variability were available (Costantini 2001).

(5) Ventilation scanning/ Radiological Imaging

In a year-long study of infants, an increase in radiologic bronchial markings was less common in the PEP group than the PDPV group, RR 0.93 (95% CI 0.80 to 1.07) (Costantini 2001). In the same study, hyperinflation was assessed, but only data for the PDPV group are reported for this outcome. A one-year study of PEP versus PDP measured Brasfield chest radiograph score, and reported identical results for the two groups, WMD 0.00 (95% CI -1.20 to 1.20) (McIlwaine 1997). A two-year study of PEP versus PDP measured Brasfield chest radiograph score, but reported no data for this outcome measure (Gaskin 1998).

In a one-year study of PEP versus flutter, a blinded radiologist evaluated changes in chest radiographs. The groups were not significantly different, although no data were published to support this (McIlwaine 2001).

(6) Nutritional status

No studies measured difference weight (kg per year) or body composition (BMI). One study with 26 participants reported having measured growth (Costantini 2001). Growth was described as "in the normal range for both groups", but no data for this outcome were available.

(7) Cost of intervention (equipment and duration) No studies measured cost.

(8) Adherence to treatment

Two studies with 80 participants monitored adherence with a series of treatments over one year (McIlwaine 1997; McIlwaine 2001). Please note, the data in Statistical Analysis for this section are incomplete, representing only one of the two studies. The remaining study did not present measures of variability for this outcome. In the one-year study of PEP versus PDPV, adherence was 96% in the PEP group and 92% in the PDPV group (McIlwaine 1997), this is presented in an additional table (Table 15). In the one-year study of PEP versus flutter, two participants were withdrawn from the PEP group due to non-compliance, RR 5.00 (95% CI 0.26 to 98.00). While none were withdrawn from the flutter group for non-compliance, five had dropped out due to perceived lack of treatment efficacy with the flutter, and a further two were withdrawn for clinical deterioration. Overall adherence was reported as 95.6% for the PEP group and 93.8% for the flutter group (McIlwaine 2001). This is presented in an additional table (Table 16).

Subgroup analyses

None of the intended subgroup analyses were possible due to small numbers of studies or insufficient detail allow the separate of subgroup data within any study. One study provided subgroup analysis based on age, which did not conform to the age groups for subgroup analysis defined in the protocol for this review. The data for the subgroup used are presented as an additional table (Table 17).

DISCUSSION

The searches found 40 studies that compared PEP with other physical interventions for airway clearance in people with CF. Nineteen of these 40 studies were only published in abstract form. The abstract format frequently limits the information on study design and results that can be obtained for use in the review without unpublished data from the author(s). Twenty-five studies met the inclusion criteria for this review.

It is unlikely that any studies of PEP have not been included. The search strategy was thorough, people with CF are often treated in

centres, and there are relatively few meetings for reporting research about CF. However, it is possible that some studies may have been published only as abstracts at physiotherapy conferences.

Amongst the studies, there was a wide range of therapies to which PEP was compared and variation in the duration of the intervention period. These factors, the frequent use of a cross-over design, the small number of studies, and the limited information provided by some authors limited the amount of meta-analysis that could be performed. Only four of the thirteen short-term studies enrolled participants with exacerbations. The other nine short-term studies are too short to determine the effect of therapy as maintenance when stable and do not help determine the relative effectiveness of the techniques during an infective exacerbation. PEP is also used in combination with various other interventions (e.g. pharmacological therapies, other physical therapy techniques, or the modification to the technique known as high pressure PEP). The evidence is therefore limited and it is difficult to make firm conclusions about the effects of PEP in comparison to other types of physiotherapy:

The measurement of lung function FEV_1 is important in CF because of its correlation with survival and quality of life (Liou 2001). No clear evidence was identified that PEP improves FEV_1 when compared to other methods. No difference in the effect of PEP versus other therapies on FEV_1 was identified in studies up to three months. Among the longer studies, results were either conflicting or also found no difference between the compared therapies.

A one-year study in children and adolescents reported a significantly reduced rate of hospital admission with PEP as opposed to Flutter (McIlwaine 2001). A similar study in adults showed the same trend (Newbold 2005). Unfortunately the data from the two studies were not in a form that allowed meta-analysis. Other studies reported some data regarding exacerbations and antibiotic use but these were not sufficiently well described to determine whether they met the definition of respiratory exacerbations and IV antibiotic use.

A small number of studies found significant differences in expectorated sputum measures when other types of chest physiotherapy were compared to PEP (Falk 1984; Hofmeyr 1986) or Hi-PEP (Pfleger 1992). However, such measures may be affected by swallowed secretions and expectorated saliva. In studies where these confounding factors were eliminated by measuring mucociliary clearance, these significant differences were not evident. All were cross-over studies (discussed further below).

Many other outcomes did not show a significant difference between PEP and the therapy to which it was compared. For example, when compared to PDPV, PEP achieved similar results for quality of well-being. In the year-long study in infants, blinded examination of chest radiographs showed no significant difference in the incidence of increased bronchial markings between the PEP and PDPV groups (Costantini 2001). When compared to flutter in children and adolescents, similar results occurred in FEF_{25-75} , and TLC (McIlwaine 2001).

No adverse events were recorded in the PEP group or in the PDPV group in the year-long study of 40 children (McIlwaine 1997). No adverse events were recorded in the PEP group or in the Flutter group in the year-long study of 40 children (McIlwaine 2001). There was no significant difference in the incidence of reflux between the PEP and PDPV groups in the year-long study of 26 infants. Gastro-oesophageal reflux severe enough to cause withdrawal from the study occurred in three participants in the PDPV group and in no participants in the PEP group, although this was not statistically significant (Costantini 2001).

In summary, there is not yet clear evidence to support the hypothesis that PEP is more effective in improving mucus clearance and other outcomes than other types of chest physiotherapy.

Limited evidence was identified in support of the hypothesis that PEP is more acceptable to people with CF than other types of chest physiotherapy. In all studies with an intervention period of less than one month, any measures of participant preference did not significantly favour PEP or the intervention to which it was compared. However, in all studies with an intervention period of at least one month, any measures of participant preference were in favour of PEP. The studies reporting participant preference were generally of low quality and the tools used to record participant preference were not well described or validated.

There were a large number of cross-over studies in the sample included in the review. The cross-over design has problems for studies of airway clearance therapies in CF. The magnitude and duration of carry-over effects are not known, although several included studies, which examined for these effects statistically, did not demonstrate them. The data from both arms of cross-over studies can only be incorporated in RevMan using the generic inverse variance method (Review Manager 2003). The current review has not used the generic inverse variance method, but it is intended that a statistician will be recruited to participate in the next update, thus allowing the generic inverse variance method to be used. Thus, data from cross-over studies will be able to be incorporated in the meta-analysis.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

There was no clear evidence to recommend PEP as a more or less effective intervention than other forms of physiotherapy for people with CF. The results for most of the key measures of treatment benefit were equivocal, or they differed between studies. There was some evidence to recommend PEP as a more acceptable intervention than other forms of physiotherapy for people with CF. How-

ever, the evidence that PEP was preferred over other techniques came from studies which were generally of low quality.

Implications for research

The abstract format frequently prevents evaluation of the scientific methodology of a study. Abstracts should be structured to contain essential information about methods and results. The large proportion of studies which were published only as abstracts highlights the need for full publication of studies in this area.

Cross-over studies are not a good design for clinical studies in CF due to the unstable nature of the disease (Southern 2003). They are potentially influenced by carry-over effects. More parallel, randomised clinical studies comparing PEP with other airway clearance modalities are needed. These studies should be adequately powered and a multi-centre approach may facilitate this. Such studies should, in particular, examine the influence of PEP and other therapies on FEV₁ and quality of life. Other important areas, which have not been assessed or reported, include survival, exercise tolerance, and cost.

Nine studies with 122 participants were conducted using shortterm interventions on stable patients, which may be of little value given the nature of CF lung disease: a chronic course with acute exacerbations. Future studies should be planned to reflect clinical practice by focusing on short-term interventions during an exacerbation or long-term studies on initially stable patients.

The studies in this review frequently found no significant difference in efficacy between treatments. Future studies should include validated measures of participant preference, as this may help to determine a suitable treatment when measures of efficacy are equivocal. Similarly, cost and adverse effect outcome data would assist consumers in decision-making.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The review authors would like to acknowledge the patient assistance of our Review Group Co-ordinators, Miss Tracey Remmington, Dr Ruaraidh Hill and Mrs Nikki Jahnke, and our editor, Dr Gerard Ryan.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

Internal sources of support

No sources of support supplied

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Balestri 2004 {published data only}

Balestri E, Ambroni M, Dall'Ara S, Miano A. Efficacy of physical exercise for mucus clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) [ab-stract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**Suppl 27**:316.

Battistini 2001 {published data only}

Battistini R, Balestri E, Ambroni M, Miano A. Efficacy of underwater positive expiratory pressure therapy (UPEP) for mucus clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Abstracts of the 24th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 2001 June 6-9; Vienna. 2001:P104.

Braggion 1995 {published data only}

* Braggion C, Cappelletti LM, Cornacchia M, Zanolla L, Mastella G. Short-term effects of three chest physiotherapy regimens in patients hospitalized for pulmonary exacerbations of cystic fibrosis: a crossover study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1995;**19**(1):16–22.

Cappelletti LM, Cornacchia M, Braggion C, Zanolla L, Mastella G. Short-term efects of 3 physiotherapy (CPT) regimens in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients hospitalized for a pulmonary exacerbation: a cross-over randomized trial [abstract]. Proceedings fo the 18th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1993 May 21-26; Madrid. 1993:W9.3.

Costantini 2001

Costantini D, Brivio A, Brusa D, Delfino R, Fredella C, Russo, et al. PEP-mask versus postural drainage in CF infants a long-term comparative trial [abstract]. Proceedings of the 24th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 2001 June 6-9. Vienna: 2001:100.

* Costantini D, Brivio A, Brusa D, Delfino R, Fredella C, Russo, et al. PEP-mask versus postural drainage in CF infants a long-term comparative trial [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2001;**Suppl 22**: 308.

Costantini D, Brivio A, Delfino R, Sguera A, Brusa D, Padoan R, et al. PEP mask versus postural drainage in CF infants [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1998;**Suppl 17**:342.

Darbee 1990 {published and unpublished data}

Dadparvar S, Darbee J, Jehan A, Bensel K, Slizofski WJ, Holsclaw D. Tc-DTPA aerosol ventilation evaluates the effectiveness of PEP mask in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *European Respiratory Journal* 1995;**8 Suppl 19**:177s.

Darbee J, Dadparvar S, Bensel K, Jehan A, Watkins M, Holsclaw D. Radionuclide assessment of the comparative effects of chest physical

therapy and positive expiratory pressure mask in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1990;**Suppl 5**:251.

Darbee 2004 {published data only}

Darbee JC, Grant BJ, Ohtake PJ, Cerny FC. Positive expiratory pressure breathing and gas distribution in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2000;**Suppl 20**:304.

* Darbee JC, Ohtake PJ, Grant BJB, Cerny FJ. Physiologic Evidence for the Efficacy of Positive Expiratory Pressure as an Airway Clearance Technique in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *Physical Therapy* 2004;**84** (6):524–537.

Falk 1984 {published data only}

Falk M, Kelstrup M, Andersen JB, Kinoshita T, Falk P, Stovring S, et al. Improving the ketchup bottle method with positive expiratory pressure, PEP, in cystic fibrosis. *European Journal of Respiratory Diseases* 1984;**65**(6):423–32.

Falk 1993 {published data only}

Falk M, Mortensen J, Kelstrup M, Lanng S, Larsen L, Ulrik CS. Short-term effects of positive expiratory pressure and the forced expiration technique on mucus clearance and lung function in CF [ab-stract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1993;**Suppl 9**:241.

Larsen L, Mortensen J, Falk M, Kelstrup M, Lanng S, Ulrik CS. Radiolabelled mucus clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis is improved by physiotherapy with positive expiratory pressure and the forced expiration technique [abstract]. *Clinical Physiology* 1994;**14**: 365.

Mortensen J, Falk M, Kelstrup M, Lanng S, Ulrik CS. Effect of positive expiratory pressure and the forced expiration technique on mucus clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *European Respiratory Journal* 1993;6(Suppl 17):409S.

Gaskin 1998 {published and unpublished data}

Gaskin L, Corey M, Shin J, Reisman JJ, Thomas J, Tullis DE. Long term trial of conventional postural drainage and percussion vs. positive expiratory pressure [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1998;**Suppl** 17:345.

Hofmeyr 1986 {published data only}

* Hofmeyr JL, Webber BA, Hodson ME. Evaluation of positive expiratory pressure as an adjunct to chest physiotherapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 1986;**41**(12):951–4.

Webber BA, Hofmeyer JL, Hodson ME, Batten JC. Evaluation of positive expiratory pressure as an adjunct to postural drainage [abstract]. Proceedings of the 13th Annual Meeting of the European Working Group for Cystic Fibrosis; 1985 Nov 3-8; Jerusalem. 1985: 95.

Kofler 1998 {published data only}

Kofler AM, Carlesi A, Cutrera R, Leone P, Lucidi V, Rosati S, et al. BiPAP versus PEP as chest physiotherapy in patients with cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1998;**Suppl 17**:344.

Lannefors 1992 {published data only}

Lannefors L, Wollmer P. Mucus clearance in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) - a comparison between postural drainage, PEP-mask and physical exercise [abstract]. Proceedings of the 11th International Cystic Fibrosis Congress; 1992. 1992:AHP31.

* Lannefors L, Wollmer P. Mucus clearance with three chest physiotherapy regimes in cystic fibrosis: a comparison between postural drainage, PEP and physical exercise. *European Respiratory Journal* 1992;**5**(6):748–53.

McIlwaine 1991 {published and unpublished data}

Davidson AGF, McIlwaine PM, Wong TK, Nakielna EM, Pirie GE. A comparative trial of positive expiratory pressure, autogenic drainage and conventional percussion and drainage techniques [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1988;**Suppl 2**:137.

McIlwaine PM, Davidson AGF. Comparison of positive expiratory pressure and autogenic drainage with conventional percussion and drainage therapy in the treatment of CF [abstract]. Proceedings of the 17th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1991 June 18-21; Copenhagen. 1991:S8.4.

McIlwaine PM, Davidson QGF, Wong LTK, Pirie GE, Nakielna EM. Comparison of positive expiratory pressure and autogenic drainage with conventional percussion and drainage therapy in the treatment of CF [abstract]. Proceedings of the 10th International Cystic Fibrosis Congress; March 5-10; Sydney. 1988:3.

McIlwaine 1997 {published and unpublished data}

Button B, Herbert R, Maher C. Positive expiratory pressure therapy better maintains pulmonary function than postural drainage and percussion in patients with cystic fibrosis [comment]. *Australian Journal* of *Physiotherapy* 1998;44(4):285–286.

* McIlwaine PM, Wong LT, Peacock D, Davidson AG. Long-term comparative trial of conventional postural drainage and percussion versus positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatrics* 1997;**131**(4):570–4.

McIlwaine PM, Wong LTK, Peacock D, Davidson AGF. Long-term comparative trial of conventional postural drainage and percussion versus positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1995;**Suppl 12**:268.

McIlwaine PM, Wong LTK, Peacock D, Davidson AGF. Long-term comparative trial of conventional postural drainage and percussion versus positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 12th International Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1996 June 16-21; Jerusalem. 1996:S193.

McIlwaine 2001 {published data only}

Davidson AGF, McIlwaine PM, Wong LTK, Peacock D. "Flutter versus PEP": A long-term comparative trial of positive expiratory pressure (PEP) versus oscillating positive pressure (Flutter) physiotherapy techniques [abstract]. Proceedings of the 22nd European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1998 June 13-19; Berlin. 1998:71.

* McIlwaine PM, Wong LT, Peacock D, Davidson AGF. Long-term comparative trial of positive expiratory pressure versus oscillating positive expiratory pressure (flutter) physiotherapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2001;**138**(6):845–50.

McIlwaine PM, Wong LTK, Peacock D, Davidson AGF. "Flutter versus PEP": A long-term comparative trial of positive expiratory pressure (PEP) versus oscillating positive expiratory pressure (Flutter) physiotherapy techniques [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1997;**Suppl 14**:299.

Mortensen 1991 {published data only}

Falk M, Mortensen J, Jensen C, Groth S, Jensen T. Postural drainage or PEP: effects on tracheobronchial clearance in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1990;**Suppl 5**:226.

* Mortensen J, Falk M, Groth S, Jensen C. The effects of postural drainage and positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy on tracheobronchial clearance in cystic fibrosis. *Chest* 1991;**100**(5):1350–7.

Mortensen J, Groth S, Falk M, Jensen C, Jensen T. Assessment of tracheobronchial clearance by sputum exporectorated during chest physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *European Respiratory Journal* 1990;**3**(Suppl 10):260s–61s.

Newbold 2005 {published data only}

Newbold ME, Brooks D, Tullis DE, Ross BG. Effectiveness of the flutter device versus the PEP mask in the treatment of adult cystic fibrosis [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2000;**Suppl 20**:304.

* Newbold ME, Tullis E, Corey M, Ross B, Brooks D. The Flutter Device versus the PEP Mask in the Treatment of Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. *Physiotherapy Canada* 2005;**57**:199–207.

Padman 1999 {published data only}

Padman R, Geouque DM, Engelhardt MT. Effects of the flutter device on pulmonary function studies among pediatric cystic fibrosis patients. *Delaware Medical Journal* 1999;**71**(1):13–8.

Pfleger 1992 {published data only}

* Pfleger A, Theissl B, Oberwaldner B, Zach MS. Self-administered chest physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis: a comparative study of high-pressure PEP and autogenic drainage. *Lung* 1992;**170**(6):323–30.

Theissl B, Pfleger A, Oberwaldner B, Zach M. Chest physiotherapy (PT) in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) - a comparative study of high-pressure PEP and autogenic drainage [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1990; **Suppl 5**:256.

Placidi 2001 {published data only}

Placidi G, Cornacchia M, Cappelletti LM, Mastella G, Assael BM, Braggion C. Short-term effects of positive airway pressure on sputum clearance by directed coughing: A cross-over, randomized study [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2001;**Suppl 22**:313–4.

Steen 1991 {published data only}

* Steen HJ, Redmond AO, O'Neill D, Beattie F. Evaluation of the PEP mask in cystic fibrosis. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica* 1991;**80** (1):51–6.

Steen HJ, Redmond AOB, O'Neill D, Beattie F. Has the PEP mask a role in the management of teenage patients? [abstract]. Proceedings of the 13th Annual Meeting of the European Working Group for Cystic Fibrosis; 1985 Nov. 3-8; Jerusalem. 1985:94.

Tyrrell 1986 {published and unpublished data}

* Tyrrell JC, Hiller EJ, Martin J. Face mask physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 1986;**61**(6):598–600.

Tyrrell JC, Martin J, Hiller EJ. 'PEP' mask physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 13th Annual Meeting of the European Working Group for Cystic FIbrosis; 1985 Nov 3-8; Jerusalem. 1985:23.

van Asperen 1987 {published and unpublished data}

van Asperen PP, Jackson L, Hennessy P, Brown J. Comparison of a positive expiratory pressure (PEP) mask with postural drainage in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Australian Journal of Paediatrics* 1987;**23** (5):283–4.

van der Schans 1991 {published data only}

van der Schans CP, van der Mark TW, de Vries G, Piers DA, Beekhuis H, Dankert-Roelse JE, et al. Effect of positive expiratory pressure breathing in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 1991;**46**(4):252–6.

van Winden 1998 {published data only}

* van Winden CM, Visser A, Hop W, Sterk PJ, Beckers S, de Jongste JC. Effects of flutter and PEP mask physiotherapy on symptoms and lung function in children with cystic fibrosis. *European Respiratory Journal* 1998;**12**(1):143–7.

van Winden CMQ, Visser A, Hop W, Sterk PJ, Beckers S, de Jongste JC. Effects of Flutter and PEP-MASK on expectoration and lung function in cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 12th International Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1996 June 16-21; Jerusalem, Israel. 1996:S275.

References to studies excluded from this review

Castle 1994

Castle T, Metcalfe C, Knox A. A comparison between the active cycle of breathing technique (A.C.B.T.) and positive expiratory pressure (PEP) mask plus A.C.B.T. on sputum production and lung volumes in adults with Cystic Fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 19th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1994 May 29-June 3. 1994: O17.

Dosman 2003

Dosman CF, Zuberbuhler PC, Tabak JI, Jones RL. Effects of positive end-expiratory pressure on oscillated volume during high frequency chest compression in children with cystic fibrosis. *Canadian Respiratory Journal* 2003;**10**(2):94–8.

Fitzgerald 2001

* Fitzgerald DA, Hilton J, Smith L, Jepson B. Is dornase alpha (Pulmozyme) more effective before or after physiotherapy? A crossover, randomised, placebo-controlled trial [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2001, (Suppl 22):309–10.

Middleton PG, Bishop J. Dornase alpha and physiotherapy - which should be first? A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in CF adults [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2001, (Suppl 22):310.

Gotz 1995

Gotz M, Wolkerstorfer A. Physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis: intrapulmonary percussive ventilation (IPV) versus positive expiratory pressure (PEP) [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1995;**Suppl 12**:267.

Laube 2000

* Laube BL, Geller DE, Lin TC, Dalby RN, Diener-West M, Zeitlin PL. Positive expiratory pressure changes aerosol distribution in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Respiratory Care* 2005;**50**(11):1438–1444.

Laube BL, Lin T, Geller D, Dalby R, Zeitlin P. Positive expiratory pressure alters aerosol distribution in CF [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2000;**Suppl 20**:247.

Oermann 2001

Oermann CM, Sockrider MM, Giles D, Sontag MK, Accurso FJ, Castile RG. Comparison of high-frequency chest wall oscillation and oscillating positive expiratory pressure in the home management of cystic fibrosis: a pilot study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2001;**32**(5):372–7.

Orlik 2000

Orlik T. Evaluation of autodrainage methods in a selected group of cystic fibrosis patients with home environment factors taken into consideration. *Medycyna Wieku Rozwojowego* 2000;**4**(3):247–59.

van Hengstum 1987

van Hengstum M, Festen J, Beurskens C, Hankel M, Van den Broek W, Buijs W, et al. The effect of positive expiratory pressure (PEP) versus forced expiration technique (FET) on tracheobronchial clearance in chronic bronchitics [abstract]. Proceedings of the 15th Annual Meeting of the European Working Group for Cystic Fibrosis; 1987; Oslo. 1987.

Znotina 2000

Znotina I, Svabe V. The effectiveness of physiotherapy for children with cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 13th International Cystic Fibrosis Congress; 2000 June 4-8; Stockholm. 2000:152.

References to studies awaiting assessment

Falk 1988

Falk M, Kelstrup M, Andersen JB, et al. PEP treatment or physical exercise. Effects on secretions expectorated and indices of central and peripheral airway function. A controlled study [abstract]. Proceedings of the 10th International Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1988 March 5-10; Sydney. 1988.

Kofler 1994

Kofler AM, Belluscio M, Bressan T, Carlesi A, Leone P, Lucidi V, et al. PEP-mask and active cycle of breathing techniques. What is better in children with cystic fibrosis [abstract]. Proceedings of the 19th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1994 May 29-June 3; Paris. 1994:066.

Lagerkvist 1997

Lagerkvist AL, Sten G, Lindblad A, Redfors S. Chest physiotherapy with positive expiratory pressure (PEP) and oscillating positive expiratory pressure (flutter) in patients with cystic fibrosis - a comparative study [abstract]. Proceedings of the 21st European Cystic Fibrosis Conference; 1997 June 1-6; Davos. 1997:132.

Sanchez Riera 1999

Sanchez Riera H, Dapena Fernandez FJ, Gomez Dominguez F, Ortega Ruiz F, Elias Hernandez T, Montemayor Rubio T, et al. Comparative study of the efficacy of 2 respiratory physiotherapy protocols for patients with cystic fibrosis [Estudio comparativo de la eficacia de dos protocolos de fisioterapia respiratoria en pacientes con fibrosis quistica]. Archivos de Bronconeumologia 1999;**35**(6):275–9.

Tonnesen 1982

Tonnesen P, Kelstrup M. Self-administered positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) using a face mask as an alternative to conventional lung physiotherapy [Selvadministeret positivt sluteksspiratorisk tryk (PEEP) pa maske som alternativ til konventionel lungefysioterapi]. Ugeskr Laeger 1982;144(21):1532–6.

Wong 2000

Wong LT, McIlwaine PM, Davidson AG. Gastroesophageal reflux during chest physiotherapy: a comparison of positive expiratory pressure and postural drainage with percussion [abstract]. Proceedings of the 13th International Cystic Fibrosis Congress; 2000 June 4-8; Stockholm. 2000:130. Wong LTK, McIlwaine PM, Davidson AGF. Gastroesophageal reflux during chest physiotherapy: a comparison of positive expiratory pressure and postural drainage with percussion [abstract]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1999;**Suppl 19**:288.

Additional references

Andersen 1979

Andersen JB, Qvist H, Kann T. Recruiting collapsed lung through collateral channels with positive end-expiratory pressure. *Scandina-vian Journal of Respiratory Disease* 1979;**60**:260–266.

Cantin 1995

Cantin A. Cystic fibrosis lung inflammation: Early, sustained, and severe. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1995;**151**(4):939–41.

Elbourne 2002

Elbourne DR, Altman DG, Higgins JP, Curtin F, Worthington HV, Vail A. Meta-analysis involving cross-over trials: methodological issues. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;**31**(1):140–9.

Groth 1985

Groth S, Stafanger G, Dirksen H, Andersen JB, Falk M, Kelstrup M. Positive expiratory pressure (PEP-Mask) physiotherapy improves ventilation and reduces volume of trapped gas in cystic fibrosis. *Bulletin Europeen de Physiopathologie Respiratoire* 1985;**21**(4):339–43.

Konstan 1997

Konstan MW, Berger M. Curent understanding of the inflammatory process in cystic fibrosis: onset and etiology. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1997;**24**(2):137–42.

Liou 2001

Liou TG, Adler FR, Fitzsimmons SC, Cahill BC, Hibbs JR, Marshall BC. Predictive 5-year survivorship model of cystic fibrosis. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2001;**153**(4):345–52.

Maher 2003

Maher CG, Sherrington C, Herbert RD, Moseley AM, Elkins M. Reliability of the PEDro scale for rating quality of randomized controlled trials. *Physical Therapy* 2003;**83**:713–721.

Main 2005

Main E, Prasad A, van der Schans C. Conventional chest physiotherapy compared to other airway clearance techniques for cystic fibrosis. In: *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 1, 2005. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

McIlwaine 1996

McIlwaine MP, Davidson AG. Airway clearance techniques in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine* 1996;**2**(6):447–51. [MedLine: 98029470].

Oberwaldner 1986

Oberwaldner B, Evans JC, Zach MS. Forced expirations against a variable resistance: a new chest physiotherapy method in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1986;**2**:358–267.

Prasad 1993

Prasad SA. Current concepts in physiotherapy. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 1993;**86**(Suppl 20):23–9. [MedLine: 93274699].

Prasad 2000

Prasad SA, Tannenbaum EL, Mikelsons C. Physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 2000;**93**(Suppl 38): 27–36. [MedLine: 20369469].

Review Manager 2003

The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan) [Version 4.2.3 for Windows]. 4.2.3. Oxford, England: The Cochrane Collaboration, 2003.

Southern 2003

Southern KW, Smyth RL. Design of clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. *Lancet* 2003;**361**(9354):349–50.

van der Schans 2004

van der Schans C, Prasad A, Main E. Chest physiotherapy compared to no chest physiotherapy for cystic fibrosis (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 1, 2004. Oxford: Update Software.

Verhagen 1998

Verhagen AP, de Vet HCW, de Bie RA, Kessels AGH, Boers M, Knipschild PG. The Delphi list: a criteria list for quality assessment of randomised clinical trials for conducting systematic reviews developed by Delphi consensus. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 1998;**51**(21): 1235–1241.

Williams 1994

Williams MT. Chest physiotherapy and cystic fibrosis. Why is the most effective form of treatment still unclear?. *Chest* 1994;**106**(6): 1872–82.

Zach 1987

Zach MS, Oberwaldner B. Chest physiotherapy: the mechanical approach to antiinfective therapy in cystic fibrosis. *Infection* 1987;**15** (5):381–4. [MedLine: 88085530].

Zach 1990

Zach MS. Lung disease in cystic fibrosis - an updated concept. *Pedi-atric Pulmonology* 1990;**8**(3):188–202.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

TABLES

Characteristics of included studies

Study	Balestri 2004
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Cross-over design.
	Treatments were given once during 1 week in random order, and once each in reverse order in the following
	week.
Participants	CF diagnosed by Centro Fibrosi Cistica (criteria not stated); stable (not defined); FEV1 54 - 95% predicted.
Ĩ	13 participants (10 males), age range 10 - 41 years.
Interventions	2 interventions:
	(1) PEP treatment. Participants breathed through an underwater PEP device providing 10 cm H2O pressure.
	15 expirations were followed by 3 bouts of coughing. This was performed in four positions: supine, right and left lateral decubitus, and sitting.
	(2) Exercise. Participants exercised on a cycle ergometer at 0.5 W/kg in 5 minute bouts, followed by 3 bouts
	of coughing.
	Each treatment was performed for 30 minutes.

Outcomes	Sputum wet weight and transcutaneous pO2 during the intervention.
Notes	No statement regarding withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Battistini 2001
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Cross-over design.
	Treatments were given once during 1 week in random order, and once each in reverse order in the following
	week.
Participants	CF diagnosed by Centro Fibrosi Cistica (criteria not stated); stable (not defined).
	8 participants (5 males); age range 9 - 43 years.
Interventions	3 interventions:
	(1) PEP treatment. Participants breathed through an underwater PEP device providing 10 cm H2O pressure.
	15 expirations were followed by 5 forced, pursed-lip breaths, and vigorous coughing. This was performed in
	four positions: supine, right and left lateral decubitus, and sitting.
	(2) Postural drainage, percussion and vibration (PDPV). 1 minute of percussion was followed by 5 forced,
	pursed-lip breaths with vibration, then vigorous coughing. This was performed in six positions (unspecified).
	(3) Cough. Voluntary, vigorous coughing initiated every four minutes.
Outcomes	Sputum wet weight and transcutaneous pO2 during the intervention.
Notes	No statement regarding withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Braggion 1995
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given twice daily for 2 days.
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat test. 16 participants (8 male); mean age 20.3 years; mean FEV1 52.5, range 32 - 98% predicted; mean Schwachman score 65.1, range 45 - 87 points. Entry to study at time of hospital treatment of an acute pulmonary exacerbation.
Interventions	 4 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Participants breathed through a Medipep, (Nuova Tecnomedica) mask with a steady PEP of 10 - 20 cm H2O; (2) Postural drainage with percussion and vibration (PDPV). 6 positions based on recent chest radiography for each participant; (3) High frequency chest compression (HFCC). Using ThAIRapy Bronchial Drainage System, chest compression in sitting at frequencies of 6, 8, 14, 15, 18 and 19 Hz were performed for 6 treatment sessions; (4) Control. Resting in sitting. Spontaneous coughing allowed.
	Each treatment lasted 50 minutes: six 5-minute periods of the specific treatment, each followed by a 3- minute period of the forced expiratory technique (FET).
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, and FEF25-75 were measured before and 30 minutes after each treatment. Expectorated sputum wet and dry weights during and for 30 minutes after each treatment were also measured. Technique acceptability was assessed using a three-point rating of effectiveness completed by the participant, and a three-point rating of tolerance, completed by the participant and also by the physiotherapist.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts. Participants were familiar with PD and PEP interventions. All were introduced to HFCC on the day before their first use. The participant's usual airway clearance regimen was used for 2 days between the 2nd and 3rd treatment periods.

Allocation concealment B – Unclear

Study	Costantini 2001
Methods	Randomised trial. Parallel design. Treatment for 1 year.
Participants	CF identified by newborn screening within the second month of life and confirmed on sweat test. 26 participants (14 male); aged under 4 months.
Interventions	2 interventions:(1) PEP treatment. Applied via a mask.(2) Postural drainage, percussion and vibration (PDPV).
	Each treatment was performed for 30 minutes, twice daily.
	The airway clearance intervention was applied by the carer(s), who received a 2-week training period in either PEP or PDPV.
	Participants were followed as outpatients for 1 year.
Outcomes	The number of courses of total and intravenous antibiotic treatment were recorded, although it is not stated whether these were prescribed in response to a respiratory exacerbation. Possible adverse effects were monitored.
	Oxygen saturation, chest radiographs, and growth were assessed. No method of radiograph assessment is mentioned. Measurements were conducted at 0, 6 and 12 months.
Notes	3 participants in the PDPV group withdrew from the study. These were among 4 participants in this group who developed gastro-oesophageal reflux. The three who withdrew did so "for the severity of their symptoms and were not evaluated".
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Darbee 1990
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given 2 - 3 times daily for 3 months.
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat test. 13 participants (7 male); mean age 25.7 years, range 18 - 34 years. Some outcome data on an additional 7 participants were received from the author.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Participants exhaled through a mask for 8 - 10 breaths, then exhaled to a low lung volume through the mask which usually stimulated a cough. This was repeated 5 - 6 times; (2) Postural drainage, percussion and vibration (PDPV). Percussion was applied for 3 minutes over all segments. Participants breathed deeply several times at each minute. Three vibrations followed with exhalation through an open mouth, without force, until productive coughing occurred.
	Participants were instructed to treat until clear, 2 - 3 times per day.
Outcomes	2 measures of mucociliary clearance were repeated after each three-month treatment arm: the time taken for half the radiolaballed sputum in the whole lung to clear (T1/2-W) and the same in the peripheral region (T1/2-P). Convenience, independence and ease of use was determined with a standardised written questionnaire (not described).
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts. Participants reported that they got clearer faster with PEP.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Darbee 2004
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	Cystic fibrosis confirmed by sweat test; stable (not defined) and not hospitalised during the previous month for management of an exacerbation. 5 participants (3 female), mean age 18 years, range 13 years to 22 years; mean FEV1 52, range 35 - 68% predicted.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 20 cm H2O. Participants breathed through a anaesthetic mask with an expiratory resistor for 8 - 10 breaths, followed by coughing. This was repeated 6 times. (2) PEP treatment as above, with pressure >20 cm H2O.
	Each intervention was applied on a different day (order randomised). A third intervention, control, was not randomised.
Outcomes	FEV1, FEF25-75, RV, SVC, dry weight of sputum, and SpO2 were recorded before, after, and 45 minutes after each intervention session. Distribution of ventilation and gas mixing were also measured.
Notes	One participant's data was excluded when it was determined that there was a pulmonary exacerbation.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Falk 1984
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF diagnosis, chronic pseudomonas infection, and expectoration of greater than 1.5g/hr of sputum. 14 participants (10 male); mean age 18 years, range 14 - 30 years; mean FEV1 34, range 15 - 55% predicted. Participants were excluded during or immediately after anti-pseudomonas treatment or a change in routine medication.
Interventions	 4 interventions: (1) PEP treatment in sitting (PEPs). Pressure 17 cm H2O using an Astra Meditec PEP mask. Seated participants exhaled 6 - 12 times, followed by forced expirations with the glottis open and coughing as needed. This was repeated for 20 minutes; (2) PEP treatment in postural drainage positions (PEPpd). Participants performed the same breathing regimen for 4 - 5 minutes in each of 7 postural drainage positions. This intervention lasted 35 minutes; (3) Postural drainage, percussion and vibration (PDPV). During the same postural drainage regimen, participants received manual percussion, followed by 3 deep breaths with vibration, and FET. This intervention lasted 35 minutes; (4) Pursed lip breathing in sitting (PLBs). Seated participants inhaled slowly and exhaled through pursed lips 5 - 8 times, followed by FET. This intervention lasted 20 minutes.
	The 4 interventions were randomised over 2 days: one each morning and one each afternoon, with an interval of at least 5 hours.
Outcomes	FEV1 and FVC were measured before and 50 minutes after each intervention session. Wet weight of expecto- rated sputum during and until 50 minutes after each intervention session. Transcutaneous pO2 was measured

during the intervention and for 50 minutes after each intervention. Technique efficiency and acceptability were assessed using a questionnaire completed by the participant, although details of the questionnaire are

Characteristics of included studies (Continued)

Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

No withdrawals nor dropouts.

not provided.

Notes

The authors state that 7 participants were studied during admission for their usual anti-pseudomonas treatment and the other 7 at least 1 month after treatment. This appears inconsistent with the exclusion criteria; see Participants.

Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Falk 1993
Methods	Randomised controlled trial.
	Cross-over design.
	Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF diagnosis.
	12 participants.
Interventions	3 interventions:
	(1) PEP treatment. Participants exhaled through a mask;
	(2) PEP with the forced expiratory technique (PEP+FET);
	(3) Control. Not defined.
	Each intervention was applied for 20 minutes on 1 of 3 consecutive days.
Outcomes	Retention of radiolabelled secretions in the lung was recorded at 0.5, 1, 2, and 24 hours after the start of the intervention. (The 24-hour value was used as a measure of the radioaerosol deposition.) Wet weight of sputum expectorated for the half hour during which the intervention was applied, and for the subsequent 1.5 hours was measured. The number of huffs and coughs during the half hour during which the intervention was applied, and for the subsequent 1.5 hours was publied, and for the subsequent 1.5 hours were counted.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Gaskin 1998
1 6 1 1	

Study	Gaskiii 1998
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Parallel design.
	Treatment for 2 years.
Participants	CF diagnosed by Toronto CF Clinics (criteria not stated); FEV1 > 40% predicted.
-	66 participants (34 males); mean age 21.6 years, range 11 - 45 years; mean FEV1 70.2% predicted (PEP group) and 65.3% predicted (PD&P group).
Interventions	2 interventions:
	(1) PEP treatment. Participants exhaled through the Astra Meditec PEP mask;
	(2) Postural drainage and percussion (PD&P). Not described beyond "conventional postural drainage and
	percussion".
	The daily regimen for use of the devices is not described.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, Quality of Well Being (QWB) score, a cycle ergometer exercise test, and the Brasfield chest
	radiograph score. All were recorded at three-monthly intervals.
	The participants also kept adherence and exercise diaries.
Notes	5 participants withdrew from the study, but none were lost to follow up. 4 from the PD&P group withdrew soon after randomisation and one from the PEP group moved away, but returned to the clinic. No reason is provided for the withdrawals.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Hofmeyr 1986

Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Randomised trial.

Methods

	Cross-over design. Each treatment given 4 times daily for 1 day.
Participants	CF confirmed by positive sweat test, malabsorption, and chronic lung infection. 18 participants (12 male); mean age 22.5 years, range 13 - 37 years; mean FEV1 1.3, range 0.45 - 3.25 litres; and FVC was 2.5, range 1.1 - 5.1 litres. All participants were studied close to the end of an admission to hospital with an exacerbation of their lung infection.
Interventions	 3 interventions: (1) PEP treatment in sitting (PEPs). Pressure 12 - 17 cm H2O using an Astra Meditec PEP mouthpiece. Seated participants exhaled 6 times through the mouthpiece, followed by relaxed breathing, 1 - 2 forced expirations (huffs) from mid to low lung volume, relaxed breathing, and a huff or cough from high lung volume if secretions reached the upper airways; (2) PEP in postural drainage (PEPpd). The same breathing regimen was performed in (usually) two postural drainage positions chosen before the start of the study as the most appropriate from (undescribed) clinical assessment. (3) Breathing exercises in postural drainage positions (BEpd). Participants performed the same breathing and positioning regimen, but did not exhale through the PEP mask when deep breathing.
	In each intervention, the respiratory manoeuvres described above were continued in cycles until the participant and physiotherapist felt that forced expiration and coughing no longer resulted in expectoration. Four treatment sessions were performed per day.
Outcomes	FEV1 and FVC were measured before and 30 minutes after each intervention session. Wet weight of sputum expectorated during and for 30 minutes after the intervention session was measured. SpO2 was recorded before, during, and for 30 minutes after each intervention session.
Notes	There were no withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Kofler 1998
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF diagnosed by CF Clinic at Children's Hospital, Rome. 20 participants (11 males); mean age 15.25, range 6 - 23 years; mean Schwachman score 80.8, SD 15.3 points.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. While sitting, participants exhaled through a Vitapep Markos mask with 10 - 20 cm H2O pressure, followed by a pause, 2 - 3 huffs and coughing. (2) Non-invasive bi-level ventilatory support (nBVS). While sitting, participants breathed against 11cm H2O inspiratory positive pressure and 9 cm H2O expiratory positive pressure applied via a mask attached to a Puritan Bennett 335, followed by a pause, 2 - 3 huffs and coughing.
	Single treatments of 15 minutes were applied on consecutive days. All participants were using PEP as their regular therapy before the study.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC and FEF25-75 were measured at the beginning, at the end, 15 min after and 30 min after each session. Oxygen saturation and heart rate were continuously monitored throughout this time via pulse-oximetry. Following the two sessions, participant preference was recorded.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts. All participants were performing PEP prior to the study. PEP and nBVS were applied "according to the Danish protocol" (not defined).
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Lannefors 1992
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF with daily sputum production. 9 participants (six male); mean age 25, range 12 - 36 years; mean FEV1 51, range 20 - 78% predicted; mean Schwachman score 66, range 39 - 94 points.
Interventions	 3 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 15 - 20 cm H2O using a mask; (2) PD. Participants alternated between deep and relaxed breaths while lying on the left side, rotated slightly backward towards supine, 15 degrees head down tilt, and sat up to cough; (3) CE. CE was performed at 80% of the participant's peak work capacity on their most recent annual maximal exercise test.
	Each 20 minute intervention session consisted of three 3-minute periods of performing the intervention, each followed by a 3-minute pause, during which a standard number of forced expirations from mid-lung volume and relaxed breaths were performed.
Outcomes	Mucus clearance was measured by delivering a radioaerosol (99mTc-labelled colloidal albumin) to the airways and measuring the distribution of radiolabelled secretions in the lung fields. Anterior and posterior planar gamma camera images of the thorax were collected for 2 minutes at baseline, after 15 minutes rest in sitting, after the 20-minute intervention, and after another 15 minutes rest in sitting. Clearance was calculated as a reduction in count rate between successive images. Whole lung clearance was calculated. In addition, the planar images were divided into a central 'hilar' region and peripheral region, and clearance from these regions was calculated.
Notes	No withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	McIlwaine 1991
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Cross-over design.
	Treatment for 2 months.
Participants	CF diagnosis.
	18 participants.
Interventions	3 interventions:
	(1) PEP treatment. No details of the device or regimen are provided;
	(2) PDP. Not described beyond "'Conventional' chest physiotherapy utilising Postural Drainage with per-
	cussion";
	(3) AD. Not described.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, and FEF25-75 were measured at the start and end of each two-month treatment period. Other measures included reported treatment duration, treatment comfort, requirement for assistance with treatment, flexibility of treatment times, control in performing own treatment, and how interruptive treatment was to daily living.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	McIlwaine 1997
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Parallel design.
	Treatment for 1 year.

Characteristics of inc	cluded studies (Continued)
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat test. 40 participants (22 male); age range 6 - 17 years; mean age 10.40 years (PEP group) and 9.75 years (PD&P group); mean FEV1 80.47, range 37 - 115% predicted. Participants were excluded if their condition was not stable as judged by clinical evaluation, chest radiograph and pulmonary function. Also, no participant entered the study within 1 month of discharge from hospital or use of IV antibiotics or other intensive therapy for an exacerbation.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 20 cm H2O using an Astra Meditec PEP mask. Seated participants breathed 15 times through the mask, followed by 2 - 3 forced expirations, cough and relaxed breathing. This was repeated 6 times, over a 20-minute session; (2) PDP. In 5 - 6 positions, 3 - 5 minutes of percussion, 2 - 4 minutes of expiratory vibrations, forced expirations and vigorous coughing were performed. These sessions lasted 30 minutes.
	Both interventions were performed twice daily.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, and FEF25-75 were measured quarterly for one year. Compliance was measured via daily record keeping, with those compliant with less than 85% of the twice-daily sessions over a one month period being withdrawn from the study. Adverse events and participant preference were assessed via questionnaire.
Notes	2 dropouts from each arm, due to non-compliance (<85% of twice-daily sessions performed) or non-atten- dance at clinic.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	McIlwaine 2001
Methods	Randomised trial. Parallel design. Treatment for 1 year.
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat test. 40 participants (24 male); age range 7 - 17 years; FEV1 range 47 - 107% predicted; Schwachman score range 54 - 98 points. Participants were excluded if they had been hospitalised within the past month for a pulmonary exacerbation, or if they were not stable on clinical evaluation, chest radiograph or pulmonary function.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Participants inhaled and exhaled through the Astra Meditec PEP mask in sitting. The resistor which produced 10 to 20 cm H2O pressure during mid-expiration was used. Over approximately 2 minutes, 15 tidal breaths with slightly active expiration were performed. Participants then removed the mask, performed 2 or 3 forced expirations, and coughed, followed by 1-2 minutes of relaxed breathing. This sequence was repeated 6 times. This 20 minutes session was repeated twice daily; (2) Oscillating PEP. Participants exhaled through the Flutter device (Flutter). The device was angled to maximise the sensation of vibration in the chest. In sitting, subjects inhaled deeply through the nose, followed by a breath hold for 2 - 3 seconds, and exhalation through the device, increasing the tidal volume and speed of exhalation to precipitate coughing and expectoration. This sequence was repeated "until clear" and not for less than 15 minutes per session, twice daily.
	The daily regimen for use of the devices is not described.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, and FEF25-75 were measured at the beginning and at three-monthly intervals throughout the study. Compliance with the interventions was recorded daily by the participants. A monthly questionnaire recorded physical activity, general well-being, cough, sputum production, subjective impression of the therapy, and adverse events. Clinical status was assessed by physicians blinded to the allocation group, using Schwachman and Huang clinical scores. Chest radiographs were evaluated by a blinded radiologist at the beginning and end of the study. Hospitalisations were also recorded.

Notes2 participants were withdrawn due to non-compliance (<85% of twice-daily sessions performed over 1
month) in the PEP group. 5 participants dropped out from the Flutter group stating that subjectively the
Flutter did not appear to clear their secretions. A further two participants withdrew from the Flutter arm
due to clinically significant deterioration in pulmonary function.

Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Mortensen 1991
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF diagnosis and chronic pseudomonas infection. 10 participants (6 male); mean age was 20 years, range 15 - 26 years; mean FEV1 38.5, range 26 - 101% predicted. Participants entered the study in the last 2 weeks of regular hospital admission for intravenous anti-pseu- domonas treatment.
Interventions	 3 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 15 - 20 cm H2O using a mask. Seated participants breathed deeply for one minute, followed by 1 - 2 forced expirations from mid to low lung volume, relaxed breathing and cough. This breathing regimen was repeated for 20 minutes; (2) Breathing exercises in postural drainage positions (BEpd). Participants breathed deeply 4 times followed by relaxed breathing for 10 minutes in each of right and left side lying with 20 degrees head down tilt. relaxed breathing were performed. This was again followed by 1 - 2 forced expirations from mid to low lung volume, relaxed breathing and cough. The same number of huffs and coughs performed with the first treatment were matched with the subsequent active intervention. (3) Control (CONT). Twenty minutes of resting in sitting with spontaneous coughing allowed.
Outcomes	Mucus clearance was measured directly by delivering a radioaerosol (99mTc-labelled albumin colloid) to the airways and then measuring the distribution of radiolabelled secretions within the lung fields. Posterior planar gamma camera images of the thorax were collected as single 5-minute exposures every 30 minutes for 3 hours. Clearance was calculated as a reduction in count rate between successive images. Whole lung clearance was calculated. In addition, the planar images were divided into central, mid and peripheral regions, and upper, mid and basal regions. Clearance from these regions was calculated. Wet weight of sputum expectorated during the initial 30-minute (intervention) period and for the remainder of the 3-hour clearance measurement period was measured.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Newbold 2005
Methods	Randomised trial.
	Parallel design.
	Treatment for 13 months.
Participants	CF diagnosed by St Michael's Hospital CF Clinic, Toronto.
	42 participants (24 male).
	PEP Group: 21 participants (15 male); mean age 28, SD 8.1 years; mean FEV1 2.5, SD 1.2 litres; mean
	FEV1 66, SD 19.9% predicted.
	Flutter Group: 21 participants (9 male); mean age 31, SD 8.7 years; mean FEV1 2.2, SD 0.7 litres; mean FEV1 69, SD 18.5% predicted.
	Participants were excluded if they had been hospitalised within the past month for a pulmonary exacerbation,
	had changed their medication within the past month, or did not have a daily cough or daily sputum.
Interventions	2 interventions:

(1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 20 cm H2O using an Astra Meditec PEP mask. Seated participants breathed 10 - 15 times through the mask, followed by huffing, coughing and relaxed breathing. This was repeated 5 - 6 times, over a 20-minute session, twice daily.

(2) Oscillating PEP. Participants exhaled through the Flutter device (Axcan Scandipharm). The device was angled to maximise the sensation of vibration in the chest. In sitting, subjects inhaled deeply through the nose, followed by a breath hold for 2 - 3 seconds, and exhalation through the device. After 5 - 10 breaths, participants increased the tidal volume and speed of exhalation through the device, to precipitate coughing and expectoration. This sequence was repeated "until clear" or for approximately 20 minutes, twice daily.

Outcomes	Slope of change in FEV1, FVC, and FEF25-75 (absolute and % predicted). Number of hospitalisations. Adherence.
Notes	1 participant was withdrawn when he stopped attending the CF clinic.
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Padman 1999
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design.
	Each treatment given for 1 month.
Participants	CF defined by mild-mod Schwachman score and a productive cough. 15 participants (gender unspecified); age range 5 - 17 years. Participants were excluded if they had a hospital admission during the month prior to the start of the study or were clinically unstable (based on respiratory rate, heart rate, oxygen saturation, breath sounds, sputum production and medication use).
Interventions	 3 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Participants breathed through a Vital Signs 9000 mask; (2) Postural drainage and chest physiotherapy (CPT). Not defined; (3) Oscillating PEP (Flutter). Participants breathed through a Scandipharm Flutter device. Not further defined.
	Each therapy was performed for 15 minutes, 3 times a day, for 1 month. Chest physiotherapy and postural drainage was used between the therapies to return each of the participants to his or her baseline status. (The period required for this to occur is not stated. It appears unstandardised.)
Outcomes	FEV1, FEF25-75, and oxygen saturation were measured at the beginning and end of each intervention period.
Notes	5 withdrawals because of hospital admission due to pulmonary exacerbation and 4 dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Pfleger 1992
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given once.
Participants	CF confirmed by repeat sweat tests, and sputum production of >20 ml per day. 15 participants (9 female, 1 unspecified); mean age 16 years, range 9.8 - 22.4 years; mean Schwachman score 62.2, range 26 - 90 points. Participants were excluded if unstable at the time of investigation (criteria unspecified). 6 months before the study, each participant was trained in the 2 self-administered techniques (PEP and AD).
Interventions	5 interventions: (1) Hi-PEP intervention. Expiratory resistance chosen to increase the FVC to the greatest extent when per- formed through the PEP mask. Participants exhaled 8 - 10 times followed by a forced expiratory manoeuvre, all through the mask;

(2) AD. Participants breathed at low lung volumes with progressive increases in the lung volume at which		
breathing was performed in response to evidence of secretion transport. Coughing and forced expiratory		
manoeuvres were avoided;		

(3) Hi-PEP for the first half of the session, followed by AD;

(4) AD for the first half of the session, followed by Hi-PEP;

(5) Control (CONT). Spontaneous coughing only.

Each intervention session was equal to the time taken for the individual participant to clear their lungs using AD, as judged from pre-study experience.

Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, RV, and TLC were measured at all PFT measurement points. Wet weight of expectorated sputum during the complete (both halves) intervention period was also measured.
Notes	1 withdrawal due to development of an acute respiratory viral infection during the study.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Placidi 2001
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given twice daily for 2 days.
Participants	CF diagnosis. 17 participants (gender unspecified); mean age 28 years, SD 7 years; mean FEV1 25%, SD 6% predicted; hospitalised for pulmonary exacerbation.
Interventions	 4 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. 20 minutes of breathing with 10 - 20 cm H2O pressure via a face mask, followed by 30 minute active PEP (cycles of 7 minutes PEP breathing and 3 minutes coughing). (2) Non-invasive bi-level ventilatory support (nBVS) treatment. 20 minutes of breathing with inspiratory positive airway pressure 8 - 12 cm H2O pressure and expiratory positive airway pressure 4 cm H2O pressure via a nasal mask, followed by 30 minute active nBVS (cycles of 7 minutes nBVS breathing and 3 minutes coughing). (3) CPAP treatment. 20 minutes of breathing with 8 - 10 cm H2O pressure via a nasal mask, followed by 30 minute active CPAP (cycles of 7 minutes CPAP breathing and 3 minutes coughing). All interventions were preceded by an inhalation of normal saline for 10 minutes and followed by relaxed breathing for 10 minutes. (4) Directed coughing was also evaluated.
Outcomes	Sputum wet and dry weights. Spirometry and oxygen saturation were also measured but no data was reported.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Steen 1991		
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given for 1 month.		
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat tests. 28 participants (gender unspecified); mean age 14 years, range 8 - 21 years; mean FEV1 68, range 15 - 114% predicted; mean Schwachman score 65, range 33 - 91 points.		
Interventions	4 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 15 cm H2O. Seated participants exhaled 10 - 15 times through an Astra or Vitapep mask, followed by forced expiration and cough, if required. This cycle was then repeated;		

Characteristics of Inc	fulded studies (Continuea)
	 (2) PEP & FET intervention. The following was added to the above technique: 1 or 2 forced expirations with an open glottis from mid-lung volume to low-lung volume followed by a period of relaxed diaphragmatic breathing (FET); (3) PDP & FET intervention. Participants received percussion in postural drainage positions, with FET; (4) 5PEP-PDP & FET intervention. Participants performed PEP (position not defined) for five minutes, followed by PDP&FET.
	Frequency and duration of treatment sessions was not specified. There was no washout period between months.
Outcomes	FEV1 and FVC were measured at the start and finish of each month. At the end of each month, the wet weight of expectorated sputum over a 2-hour period which included a treatment with that month's intervention was measured. At the end of the study period, participants nominated which intervention they would use as ongoing airway clearance physiotherapy.
Notes	2 withdrawals (1 death, 1 non-compliance) and 2 dropouts (1 pneumothorax, 1 subjective lack of effect). A fifth intervention, FET alone, was undertaken by a subset of 5 participants. This treatment was performed after the 4 randomly-assigned interventions and therefore does not form part of the randomised trial.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Tyrrell 1986
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given for 1 month.
Participants	CF diagnosed by the Nottingham City Hospital Cystic Fibrosis Clinic. 19 participants (after withdrawals, 9 females and 7 males); mean age 13 years, range 10 - 18 years; mean Schwachman score 62, range 47 - 85 points.
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 15 cm H2O. Seated participants exhaled 10 times through an Astra mask, followed by "forced expiratory coughing"; (2) Postural drainage and percussion (PD&P). Participants received percussion and performed coughing in postural drainage positions.
	Treatment was performed for 20 minutes, twice daily.
Outcomes	Forced expiratory volume in 0.75 sec (FEV 0.75), FVC, PEFR were recorded before, 20 minutes after, and 90 minutes after a single supervised treatment at the beginning of the randomisation month. Wet weight of sputum expectorated during the therapy was also measured. The same measures were repeated over a single treatment at the end of the randomisation month. In addition, during each treatment month, diary card records were kept regarding the following symptoms: sleep, cough, wheeze, activity, sputum production. (Details of the scoring system for these symptoms are not
	provided.) Although not listed as a formal outcome measures, antibiotic use and participant preference are also discussed in the results section.
Notes	3 withdrawals due to non-adherence. Those children who showed airway reversibility with salbutamol were asked to use it before treatment throughout the whole study.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	van Asperen 1987
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given for 4 weeks

 Participants
 CF diagnosed by Camperdown or Westmead Hospitals, and daily sputum production.

 Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)

Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Each treatment given for 4 weeks.

	13 participants (gender unspecified); age range 7 - 18 years. No change in treatment in the 2 months prior to commencing the study.		
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 10 - 15 cm H2O. Participants exhaled 10 - 15 times through an Astra mask (position unspecified), followed by forced expiration and coughing; (2) Postural drainage and percussion (PD&P). Participants received manual percussion to all areas in postural drainage positions, followed by forced expiration and coughing. 		
	The PEP intervention was continued for 20 minutes. PD&P lasted "at least 20 minutes". Each intervention treatment was administered twice daily for 4 weeks. There was no washout period.		
Outcomes FEV1 and FVC were measured before and 1 hour after the first treatment of each rando Volume of expectorated sputum was measured over one hour which commenced with the the randomisation period.			
Notes	2 withdrawals due to infective exacerbations and one dropout.		
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear		

Study	van Winden 1998
Methods	Randomised trial. Cross-over design. Each treatment given for 2 weeks.
Participants	CF confirmed by sweat tests or DNA mutation analysis. 22 participants (12 male); median age 12 years, range 7 - 17 years; median FEV1 82, range 55 - 129% predicted. Participants were excluded if they had been clinically unstable during the 2 weeks prior to entering the study, according to PEFR and symptoms scores (criteria not specified).
Interventions	 2 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 8 - 12 cm H2O. Seated participants breathed through an Astra Meditec PEP mask 15 times, followed by 3 huffs and coughing. This sequence was repeated 5 times; (2) Oscillating PEP (Flutter). Participants inhaled deeply, held their breath for 2 - 3 seconds, then exhaled through the VarioRaw Flutter device 15 times, following which the participant again huffed 3 times and coughed. This sequence was also repeated 5 times. The flutter was tilted upwards or downwards a few degrees from horizontal until the maximum vibration sensation was obtained.
	Each intervention was performed twice per day for 2 weeks, preceded by a one-week washout period. During the washout weeks, all participants performed "routine physiotherapy" with huff and cough manoeuvres.
Outcomes	FEV1, FVC, and TLC were measured before the initial, 1-week washout period. These measures were repeated on the first day of each of the 2 treatment periods, before and 30 minutes after the first session of therapy. At the end of the 2-week treatment periods, these measures were again taken 30 minutes after physiotherapy. Oxygen saturation via pulse oximetry was measured before during and after the first and last treatments of each 2-week period.
Notes	No withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	van der Schans 1991
Methods	Randomised controlled trial.
	Cross-over design.
	Each treatment given twice daily for 1 day.
Participants	CF diagnosis with daily expectoration of mucus.

	8 participants (gender unspecified); mean age 16 years, range 13 - 21 years; mean FEV1 70 % predicted. Participants were excluded if they were not in a clinically stable phase of their disease, as assessed by lung function tests and a short questionnaire (criteria unspecified).
Interventions	 3 interventions: (1) PEP treatment. Pressure 15 cm H2O. Participants breathed through a Vital Signs PEP mask for 2 minutes. followed by undisturbed breathing for 2 minutes. This was repeated 5 times. The participant then coughed as productively as possible every 30 seconds for a further 5 minutes; (2) PEP treatment as above, with pressure 5 cm H2O; (3) Control (CONT). Participants rested in supine in place of the PEP breathing in the above regimen followed by coughing as above.
	Each intervention was applied on a different day (order randomised) at the same time of day.
Outcomes	On the measurement days, the intervention protocol was carried out twice: first with measurement of mucus clearance and the second time with lung function measurements. FEV1, TLC, FRC, and RV were assessed before and after PEP breathing, or before and after the coughing period on the control day. Mucus clearance was measured directly by delivering a radioaerosol (99mTcc labelled tin colloid) to the airways and then measuring the distribution of radiolabelled secretions within the lung fields. Posterior planar gamma camera images of the thorax were collected continuously for 10 minutes before the intervention, during the 25-minute intervention, and for a further 10 minutes. Decreases in radioactivity in the peripheral region and in the whole lung were calculated for the 30-minute (incl. PEI or relaxed breathing periods) and 45 minutes (incl. PEP or relaxed breathing and voluntary cough periods) Clearance was calculated as a reduction in count rate.
Notes	No statement on withdrawals or dropouts.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
AD: autogenic drainage	
CE: cycle ergometry CF: cystic fibrosis FEF25-75: forced expirator FEV1: forced expiratory vol FRC: functional residual ca FVC: forced vital capacity HFCC: high frequency chee Hi-PEP: High-pressure PEI IV: intravenous PD: postural drainage PDP: postural drainage PDP: postural drainage, p PEP: positive expiratory pre PEFR: peak expiratory pre PEFR: peak expiratory flow PFT: pulmonary function to pO2: blood test measuring RV: residual volume SD: standard deviation SpO2: saturation of haemon TLC: total lung capacity nBVS: non-invasive bilevel SVC: slow vital capacity W/kg: watt per kilogram	lume at one second pacity st compression ? h percussion hercussion and vibration essure rate est oxygen in the blood globin with oxygen using pulse oximetry

Characteristics of excluded studies

Study	Reason for exclusion
Castle 1994	No outcome data were reported.

Dosman 2003	No data were reported for the outcomes of interest.			
Fitzgerald 2001	Factor randomised is not PEP versus other airway clearance.			
Gotz 1995	No data were reported for the outcomes of interest.			
Laube 2000	The intervention to which PEP was compared was not a physical airway clearance therapy.			
Oermann 2001	Neither of the interventions being compared was PEP.			
Orlik 2000	The use of PEP versus the other physical airway clearance therapies was not the factor which was random in this study.			
Znotina 2000	The use of PEP versus the other physical airway clearance therapy (oscillating PEP) was not the factor which was randomised in this study.			
van Hengstum 1987	The study was performed in participants with chronic bronchitis.			
PEP: Positive expiratory pressure				

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. Search Strategy CINAHL

1982 to 2001

#1. Positive expiratory pressure OR PEP OR High pressure PEP

#2. Cystic fibrosis OR CF OR Mucoviscidosis

#3. #1 AND #2

Table 02. Quality criteria met by included studies (Maher 2003)

Study Name	No. of criteria met
Balestri 2004	4
Battistini 2001	2
Braggion 1995	3
Costantini 2001	2
Darbee 1990	4
Darbee 2000	2
Falk 1984	6
Falk 1993	3
Gaskin 1998	6
Hofmeyr 1986	5
Kofler 1998	4
Lannefors 1992	4
McIlwaine 1991	3
McIlwaine 1997	6
McIlwaine 2001	5

Table 02. Quality criteria met by included studies (Maher 2003) (Continued)

Study Name No. of criteria met Mortensen 1991 5 Newbold 2000 6 Padman 1999 1 Pfleger 1992 6 Placidi 2001 2 Steen 1991 4 Tyrrell 1986 3 van Asperen 1987 4 van der Schans 1991 3 van Winden 1998 5

Table 03. FEV1 after single treatment Pfleger 1992

Treatment	Mean (SD) FEV1
Hi-PEP	54 (20) % predicted
AD	56 (19) % predicted
Hi-PEP then AD	55 (18) % predicted
AD then Hi-PEP	54 (19) % predicted

Table 04. Days of intravenous antibiotic use per participant per year (Costantini 2001)

Treatment	Mean
PEP	6.2 days per participant per year
PDPV	1.8 days per participant per year

Table 05. Measures of technique acceptability (McIlwaine 1991)

Treatment	Mean Duration of Rx	Comfort Score	Flexibility Score	In Control of Own Rx	Disruption Score
PEP	21	75	73	89	33
AD	25	84	73	87	35
PDPV	27	49	42	62	63
		0 = very uncomfortable	0 = very rigid	0 = no control	0 = Rx not interruptive
		100 = very comfortable	100 = very flexible	100 = full control	100 = Rx very interruptive

Treatment Mean Duratio	on of Rx Comfort Score	In Control of Flexibility Score Rx	Own Disruption Score
Table 06. Percentage of	radioaerosol retention (Falk 19	93)	
Treatment	Mean (SD) at 0.5 hr	Mean (SD) at 1.0 hr	Mean (SD) at 2.0 hr
PEP + FET	92.4 (5.0) %	90.1 (4.8) %	86.9 (5.1) %
FET	92.7 (5.3) %	90.8 (5.4) %	89.9 (6.4) %
Table 07. Wet weight of	Sputum during and 50 minute	es after Rx (Falk 1984)	
Treatment			Mean (range) weight
PEP in sitting			21.6 (12.5 - 53.5) g
PEP in PD positions			17.4 (5.8 - 50.7) g
Pursed Lip Breathing			15.0 (5.4 - 44.9) g
PDPV			10.0 (1.9 - 51.1) g
Table 08. Wet weight of	sputum during Rx (Pfleger 199	92)	
Treatment			Mean (SD) weight
Hi-PEP			50 (29) g
AD			35 (25) g
Hi-PEP then AD			44 (29) g
AD then Hi-PEP			39 (23) g
			NB Data measured from graph

Table 05. Measures of technique acceptability (McIlwaine 1991) (Continued)

Table 09. Wet weight of sputum during and for 30 minutes after Rx (Hofmeyer 1986)

Treatment	Mean (range) weight
BE in PD positions	79.8 (30.7 - 219.8) g
PEP in PD positions	70.6 (24.7 - 256.8) g
PEP in sitting	66.1 (15.3 - 189.4) g

Table 10. FVC after single treatment (Pfleger 1992)

Treatment	Mean (SD) FVC
Hi-PEP	73 (20) % predicted
AD	74 (19) % predicted
Hi-PEP then AD	73 (20) % predicted
AD then Hi-PEP	71 (21) % predicted

Table 11. FVC change after four treatments (Falk 1984)

Treatment	Mean (range) change
PEP in sitting	+6.6 (0 - 11) %
PDPV	- 4.7 (0 - 7.9) %
PEP in PD positions	not stated
Pursed Lip Breathing	not stated
	NB It is unclear whether these percentages refer to absolute percentage change or change in % predicted.

Table 12. TLC and FRC during treatment (van der Schans 1991)

Treatment	Mean (SD) TLC	Mean (SD) FRC
PEP 15 cm H2O	6.9 (1.1) litres	4.4 (1.4) litres
PEP 5 cm H2O	5.9 (0.8) litres	3.6 (0.8) litres

Table 13. Oxygenation change during Rx (Kofler 1998)

Treatment	Mean (SD) Chg SpO2
PEP	0.04 (1.28) %
nBVS	1.2 (2.12) %

Table 14. Oxygenation change by 35 min after Rx (Falk 1984)

Treatment	Mean (1-3 quartile)	Mean Rx duration *
PEP in sitting	14.4 (4.6 - 27.4) %	20 min
PEP in pd	3.2 (0 - 15.4) %	39 min
PLB	2.4 (-8.0 - 11.3) %	21 min
PDPV	4.3 (-9.4 - 12.1) %	37 min

NB Treatment durations unequal

Table 15. Adherence at one year (McIlwaine 1997)

Treatment	Adherence
PEP	92% (SD not stated)
PDPV	96% (SD not stated)

Table 16. Adherence at one year (McIlwaine 2001)

Treatment	Adherence
РЕР	95.6% (SD not stated)
Flutter	93.8% (SD not stated)

Table 17. FEV1 change over two years in participants under 19 years of age (Gaskin 1998)

Treatment	FEV1 change
РЕР	-1.58% predicted per year (SD not stated)
PDPV	-1.65% predicted per year (SD not stated)

ANALYSES

Comparison 01. PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Subtotals only
02 Adverse effects: gastro- oesophageal reflux			Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
03 Adverse effects: gastro- oesophageal reflux sufficient to cause withdrawal			Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Subtotals only
05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Subtotals only
06 Total lung capacity (TLC)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
07 Radiological imaging: increased bronchial markings			Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
08 Radiological imaging: change in Brasfield score			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected

Comparison 02. PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter)

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Subtotals only
02 Hospitalisations for respiratory exacerbation (number per participant)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
03 Participant preference: self- withdrawal due to lack of perceived effectiveness			Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)			Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected
06 Adherence: at least 85% of prescribed treatments performed			Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% CI	Totals not selected

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Cystic Fibrosis [complications; *therapy]; Forced Expiratory Volume; Mucociliary Clearance; Mucus [*secretion]; Positive-Pressure Respiration [*methods]; Randomized Controlled Trials; Vital Capacity

MeSH check words

Humans

COVER SHEET

Title	Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis
Authors	Elkins MR, Jones A, van der Schans C
Contribution of author(s)	Mark Elkins, Alice Jones and Cees van der Schans drafted and wrote the protocol. Mark Elkins and Alice Jones independently assessed studies for inclusion in the full review, contributed to data extraction, and collaborated on consensus decisions. Mark Elkins wrote the text of the review, with contributions from Alice Jones. Mark Elkins updated the review with contributions from Alice Jones. Mark Elkins acts as guarantor of the review.
Issue protocol first published	2001/3
Review first published	2004/1
Date of most recent amendment	22 February 2006
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	15 December 2005
What's New	Update February 2006 Cees van der Schans has stepped down as co-author on this review as from February 2006. Five studies have been added to the list of included studies in this update (Balestri 2004; Battistini 2001; Darbee 2004; Newbold 2005; Placidi 2001).

	Five studies have been added to the list of excluded studies (Castle 1994; Dosman 2003; Fitzgerald 2001; Oermann 2001; Orlik 2000).
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	02 February 2006
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Mr Mark Elkins Research Physiotherapist Respiratory Medicine Royal Prince Alfred Hospital Level 11 South, Edinburgh Building Missenden Road Camperdown NSW 2050 AUSTRALIA E-mail: elkinsm@med.usyd.edu.au Tel: +61 2 9515 8712 Fax: +61 2 9515 8196
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD003147.pub3
Cochrane Library number	CD003147
Editorial group	Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group
Editorial group code	HM-CF

GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES

Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEVI)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis

Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration

Outcome: 01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)

01 8 days to 1 month	N 5	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
,	5					V 7	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
1 1007	5						
van Asperen 1987		1.40 (7.47)	5	0.80 (2.59)		100.0	0.60 [-6.33, 7.53]
Subtotal (95% CI)	5		5			100.0	0.60 [-6.33, 7.53]
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applio	cable					
Test for overall effect z=0	.17 p	=0.9					
02 2 to 3 months							
Darbee 1990	12	-2.50 (4.62)	8	-2.00 (2.62)		100.0	-0.50 [-3.68, 2.68]
Subtotal (95% CI)	12		8		-	100.0	-0.50 [-3.68, 2.68]
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applio	cable					
Test for overall effect z=0	.31 p	=0.8					
03 7 to 12 months							
McIlwaine 1997	18	5.98 (10.60)	18	-2.28 (12.30)		100.0	8.26 [0.76, 15.76]
Subtotal (95% CI)	18		18			100.0	8.26 [0.76, 15.76]
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applio	cable					
Test for overall effect z=2	.16 p	=0.03					
04 2 years							
Gaskin 1998	33	-2.94 (5.82)	33	-2.29 (4.90)	-	100.0	-0.65 [-3.25, 1.95]
Subtotal (95% CI)	33		33		•	100.0	-0.65 [-3.25, 1.95]
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applio	cable					
Test for overall effect z=0	.49 p	=0.6					
					-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0		
					Favours PDPV Favours PEP		

Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 02 Adverse effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration Outcome: 02 Adverse effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux

Study	PEP n/N	PDPV n/N	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl
01 07 to 12 months Costantini 2001	5/15	4/11		0.92 [0.32, 2.65]
			0.2 0.5 2 5 Favours PEP Favours PDPV	

Analysis 01.03. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 03 Adverse effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux sufficient to cause withdrawal

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration

Outcome: 03 Adverse effects: gastro-oesophageal reflux sufficient to cause withdrawal

Study	PEP n/N	PDPV n/N	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl
01 07 to 12 months Costantini 2001	0/15	3/11	· •	0.11 [0.01, 1.88]
			0.01 0.1 10 100 Favours PEP Favours PDPV	

Analysis 01.04. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration

Outcome: 04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)

Study		PEP		PDPV	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weight	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
01 Single treatment							
Tyrrell 1986	7	4.57 (8.26)	9	2.67 (4.74)	-	100.0	1.90 [-4.96, 8.76]
Subtotal (95% Cl)	7		9		•	100.0	1.90 [-4.96, 8.76]
Test for heterogeneity: r	not app	licable					
Test for overall effect z=	=0.54	p=0.6					
02 8 days to 1 month							
Tyrrell 1986	7	-11.43 (13.44)	9	-2.33 (9.21)		56.4	-9.10 [-20.73, 2.53]
van Asperen 1987	5	2.78 (14.94)	5	0.58 (2.24)	-	43.6	2.20 [-11.04, 15.44]
Subtotal (95% CI)	12		14		•	100.0	-4.18 [-12.92, 4.56]
Test for heterogeneity o	hi-squa	re=1.58 df=1 p=0.2	2 2 = 3	6.7%			
Test for overall effect z=	=0.94	p=0.3					
03 >1 to 3 months							
Darbee 1990	12	1.09 (9.95)	8	-1.00 (7.25)		100.0	2.09 [-5.46, 9.64]
Subtotal (95% CI)	12		8		•	100.0	2.09 [-5.46, 9.64]
Test for heterogeneity:	not app	licable					
Test for overall effect z=	=0.54	p=0.6					
04 >6 to 12 months							
McIlwaine 1997	18	6.57 (8.06)	18	-2.17 (13.58)		100.0	8.74 [1.44, 16.04]
					-100.0 -50.0 0 50.0 100.0		
					Favours PDPV Favours PEP		(Continued)

1			C .: 1)
(.	•	٠	Continued)

Study		PEP		PDPV	Weighted Me	an Difference (Fixed) Weight	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		95% CI	(%)	95% CI
Subtotal (95% Cl)	18		18			•	100.0	8.74 [1.44, 16.04]
Test for heterogeneity	: not appli	cable						
Test for overall effect :	z=2.35 p	b=0.02						
05 >1 to 2 years								
Gaskin 1998	33	-2.54 (6.48)	33	-0.97 (4.84)		-	100.0	-1.57 [-4.33, 1.19]
Subtotal (95% CI)	33		33			•	100.0	-1.57 [-4.33, 1.19]
Test for heterogeneity	: not appli	cable						
Test for overall effect :	z=1.12 p	o=0.3						
					-100.0 -50.0	0 50.0 100.0		
					Favours PDPV	Favours PEP		

Analysis 01.05. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis

Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration

Outcome: 05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)

Study		PEP		PDPV	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weight	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
01 8 days to 1 month							
van Asperen 1987	5	-5.20 (9.26)	5	1.00 (1.41)	← <u>→</u>	100.0	-6.20 [-14.41, 2.01]
Subtotal (95% CI)	5		5			100.0	-6.20 [-14.41, 2.01]
Test for heterogeneity:	not appli	icable					
Test for overall effect z=	=1.48 p	o=0.1					
02 >1 to 3 months							
Darbee 1990	12	-2.83 (5.46)	8	0.25 (5.29)		100.0	-3.08 [-7.87, 1.71]
Subtotal (95% CI)	12		8			100.0	-3.08 [-7.87, 1.71]
Test for heterogeneity:	not appli	icable					
Test for overall effect z=	=1.26 p	o=0.2					
03 >6 to 12 months							
McIlwaine 1997	18	3.32 (16.12)	18	-0.24 (13.58)		100.0	3.56 [-6.18, 13.30]
Subtotal (95% CI)	18		18			100.0	3.56 [-6.18, 13.30]
Test for heterogeneity:	not appli	icable					
Test for overall effect z=	=0.72 p	b=0.5					
					<u> </u>		
					-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0		
					Favours PDPV Favours PEP		

Analysis 01.06. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 06 Total lung capacity (TLC)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration Outcome: 06 Total lung capacity (TLC)

Study		PEP		PDPV	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	95% Cl
01 >1 to 3 months						
Darbee 1990	12	2.00 (9.87)	8	5.38 (12.47)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-3.38 [-13.67, 6.91]
					-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0	
					Favours PDPV Favours PEP	

Analysis 01.07. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 07 Radiological imaging: increased bronchial markings

Review: Positive expiratory p	pressure physiotherapy for	airway clearance in people v	with cystic fibrosis	
Comparison: 01 PEP compa	red with Postural Drainage	Percussion % Vibration		
Outcome: 07 Radiological in	naging: increased bronchial	markings		
Study	PEP	PDPV	Relative Risk (Fixed)	Relative Risk (Fixed)
	n/N	n/N	95% CI	95% CI
01 >6 to 12 months				
Costantini 2001	13/15	11/11		0.87 [0.71, 1.06]
			0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	
			Favours PEP Favours PDPV	

Analysis 01.08. Comparison 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion & Vibration, Outcome 08 Radiological imaging: change in Brasfield score

 Review:
 Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis

 Comparison:
 01 PEP compared with Postural Drainage, Percussion % Vibration

 Outcome:
 08 Radiological imaging: change in Brasfield score

Study		PEP		PDPV	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	95% CI
01 >6 to 12 months McIlwaine 1997	18	0.37 (1.86)	18	0.37 (1.80)		0.00 [-1.20, 1.20]
					-4.0 -2.0 0 2.0 4.0	
					Favours PDPV Favours PEP	
Positivo ovniratory n		hysiotherapy for	ainway d	oaranco in noon	le with cystic fibrosis (Review)	41

Analysis 02.01. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter) Outcome: 01 Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)

Study		PEP		Flutter	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weight	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
01 >6 to 12 months							
McIlwaine 2001	17	-1.24 (9.90)	13	-10.95 (19.96)		100.0	9.71 [-2.12, 21.54]
Subtotal (95% Cl)	17		13		•	100.0	9.71 [-2.12, 21.54]
Test for heterogeneit	y: not ap	plicable					
Test for overall effect	z=1.61	p=0.1					
02 >1 to 2 years							
Newbold 2005	21	-4.20 (8.00)	21	-2.00 (8.10)	-	100.0	-2.20 [-7.07, 2.67]
Subtotal (95% Cl)	21		21		•	100.0	-2.20 [-7.07, 2.67]
Test for heterogeneit	y: not ap	plicable					
Test for overall effect	z=0.89	p=0.4					
					-100.0 -50.0 0 50.0 100.0		
					Favours Flutter Favours PEP		

Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 02 Hospitalisations for respiratory exacerbation (number per participant)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter)

Outcome: 02 Hospitalisations for respiratory exacerbation (number per participant)

Study	PEP		Flutter		Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)		n Difference (Fixed)	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		ç	95% CI	95% CI
01 >1 to 2 years								
Newbold 2005	21	0.30 (0.70)	21	0.70 (1.00)				-0.40 [-0.92, 0.12]
					-1.0	-0.5 (0 0.5 1.0	
					Favour	rs PEP	Favours Flutter	

Analysis 02.03. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 03 Participant preference: self-withdrawal due to lack of perceived effectiveness

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter)

Outcome: 03 Participant preference: self-withdrawal due to lack of perceived effectiveness

Study	PEP n/N	Flutter n/N	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl
01 >6 to 12 months McIlwaine 2001	0/20	5/20	• -	0.09 [0.01, 1.54]
			0.01 0.1 10 100 Favours PEP Favours Flutter	

Analysis 02.04. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter) Outcome: 04 Forced vital capacity (FVC)

Analysis 02.05. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)

Review: Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis Comparison: 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter) Outcome: 05 Forced expiratory flow 25 - 75 % (FEF 25-75)

Study	PEP			Flutter	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)	Weighted Mean Difference (Fixed)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	95% CI
01 >6 to 12 months McIlwaine 2001	17	-3.58 (15.49)	13	-8.87 (20.00)		5.29 [-7.84, 18.42]
02 >1 to 2 years Newbold 2005	21	-3.10 (6.20)	21	-2.00 (11.00)		-1.10 [-6.50, 4.30]
					-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0 Favours Flutter Favours PEP	

Analysis 02.06. Comparison 02 PEP compared with oscillating PEP (Flutter), Outcome 06 Adherence: at least 85% of prescribed treatments performed

Study	PEP n/N	Flutter n/N	Relative Risk (Fixed) 95% Cl	Relative Risk (Fixed 95% Cl
01 >6 to 12 months McIlwaine 2001	2/20	0/20		5.00 [0.26, 98.00]
			0.01 0.1 10 100 Favours PEP Favours Flutter	